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Maltby Capatal Limited
Directors’ report and consolidated financial statements
31 March 2010

Directors’ report

The directors present their directors’ report and financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2010
Principal activities

The Company, through its indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary Maltby Acquisttions Limited acquired the EMI
Group of companies (“EMI") on 17 August 2007 EMI Group comprises two distinct businesses, EMI
Music and EMI Music Publishing

EMI Music 1s one of the oldest, largest and best known music businesses In the world It 1s the fourth
largest recorded music business globally and 1s active in more than 40 countries worldwide EMI Music’'s
business pnmanly focuses on monetising its extensive catalogue, the discovery and development of
artists, and the related marketing, distnbution and licensing of recorded music produced by such artists

EMI Music Publishing 1s in the business of acquinng, protecting, administenng and exploiting rights in
musical compesitions, while at the same time servicing both songwriters and licensors of music akke Itis
a business based on the songs themselves as distinct from the recordings or media in which they are
used

Business review

Review of operations

2007 2008 2009 2010
£m £m £m £m
Revenue 1,808 1,458 1,569 1,651
EBITDA excluding restructuring 68 (28) 293 334

Qperating loss before impairment of goodwill and
intangible assets {135) {258) 7 121
Loss from operations {157) (258) (1,031) (481)

"The Company acquired EM| Group Limited on 17 August 2007 The result above represents the consolidated resut of EMI Group Limited for the year ended
31 March 2007 and 2008

EMI's operational performance has improved since its acquisition by the Company Whilst revenue has
dechned slightly compared to reported revenue in 2007, EBITDA excluding restructuring has increased
from £68 million to £334 milion this year Operating loss before non-cash impairment charge has
increased from a reported loss of £135 million in 2007 to £421 million In this year This improvement has
been achieved despite the global economic crisis

The full results of the Group are set out on page 12 of the financial statements
EMI Recorded Music

Duning the financial year the Recorded Music Division successfully released a number of major world-
wide hits from its roster of arfists including Robbie Willams (‘Realty Killed The Video Star), Lady
Antebellum (‘Need You Now’), Norah Jones (‘'The Fall’), David Guetta (‘One Love') and The Beatles
('Beatles Remastered’) ‘Beatles Remastered’ was EMI Music's best-selling project in the financial year
Launched in September 2009, the albums sold over 10m units In the year This record-breaking project
was one of the first to benefit from EMI Music's new consumer insight and marketing capability that inform
the way the company develops and promotes music products in order to dnive sales and which EMI
continued to invest In during the year The overall product range included individual albums, boxed sets
in both stereo and mono, an apple-shaped USB stick, clothing and other merchandise
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Directors’ report (continued)

Also selling over a million album units in the period were Lily Allen (whose ‘It's Not Me, iIt's You' was
released in February 2009) and Depeche Mode, together with the ‘NOW 74’ compilation Katy Perry
continued to have a successful 12 months with her global hit album ‘One of the Boys’ which was released
in June 2008 selling a further 3 8 milhon digital track downloads and nearly half a milion full albums
dunng the EMI financial year Coldplay, whose 2008 album ‘Viva La Vida' was the biggest selling album
worldwide that year, passed ancther milestone in July 2009 when they became the first artist to sell more
than one million full digital albums in the US and two mithon globally

Recorded Music sales continue to be challenged by the continued overall market dechine in physical sales
that are not currently being fully offset by growth in digital sales, although over the year EMI's global
market share increased by 10% to 10 4% Given the underlying market dechine, EMI continues to
develop 1its strategy of diversifying its revenues and, dunng the year, EMI acquired loudclothing com,
Europe’s largest independent music merchandise company and launched ‘Abbey Road Live’, which
produced and sold direct to fans on-location live recordings for artists such as the Piaes, Blur and
Deadmaub

In addition the company continued to expand into new digital platforms as well as developing the reach
and income streams for its artists’ videcs through a range of new distnbution partnerships

EMI Music Publishing

At the heart of the Music Publishing Division’s success are the outstanding songwnters and songs that
the business represents EMI Music Publishing continued to excel in new music discovery, with an
unmatched ability to find and nurture the very best song wnting talent across the world EMI Music
FPublishing was the leading publisher in the UK in the first three calendar quarters of the year while, in
December 2010, Billboard magazine named EMI the top US publisher of the year for the 13th
consecutive ime This creative excellence and continued success in developing hits continues to enable
the Division to establish new commercial relationships and develop valuable sources of revenue from
businesses entering the music market for the first time It 1s new music that expands demand and helps
create new markets and so the success of our songwriters 1s essential to further growth

Work with some of the world’s best songs and songwniters has enabled the Music Pubhshing Division to
create new relattonships with brands and businesses that seek to put music at the heart of their products
The result has been sharp increases in icensing (or “synchronization™) revenue from many different forms
of media over recent years The continued diversification of its synch revenue streams enabled growth to
be maintaned dunng the period, countening the effects of temporary labour 1ssues on film and TV income
and of the current economic downturn on advertising spending

Restructuring initiatives

From the date of the acquisition of EMI, the directors have been reviewing and analysing the operations,
strategies and markets of both the EMI Music and EMI Music Publishing divisions This fundamental and
wide-ranging restructuring exercise was nitlated immediately after the date of acquisttion, and has
continued through the year ended 31 March 2010 and will continue for the foreseeable future In addition,
across both divisions management have implemented a wide range of cost saving initiatives, including
significant headcount reductions and mvestigating debt and equity refinancing this year

This year restructuning initiatives included rationalising the property portfolio, outsourcing of certain non-
core business areas, and renegotiating contracts with suppliers, as well as secunty and capital
reorganisation 1ssues  The costs incurred in performing this strategic review, and the implementation of
the resulting restructuning, totalled £71 million in the year ended 31 March 2010 (£136 mllion in the year
ended 31 March 20089)
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Key performance indicators

The directors and management of the Group use a number of key performance indicators (KPI's) to
assess the engoing performance of the business The principal financial KPI's used by the directors are
revenue and EBITDA The drrectors define EBITDA as the profit from operations stated before
depreciation, amortisation, imparrment, and exceptional items (including restructuring costs} Non-
financial KPI's include market share, market growth and chart performance

The EBITDA, by dmision for each of the two periods 1s calculated as follows

Year ended 31 March 2010

EMI Music
EMI Muslc Publishing
division division Total Group
£m £m £m
Revenue 1,173 478 1,651
Loss from operations {331) {150} (481}
Add back
Restructuring costs 76 (5) 71
Depreciation 20 3 23
Amortisation of music catalogues and other 59 60 119
intangibles
Impairment of intangible assets and goodwill 360 242 602
EBITDA excluding restructuring 184 150 334
Year ended 31 March 2009
EMI Music
EMI Music Publishing
divislon division Total Group
£m £m £m
Revenue 1,101 468 1,569
Loss from operations (249) (782) (1,031)
Add back
Restructuring costs 131 5 136
Depreciation 19 3 22
Amortisation of music catalogues and other 57 71 128
intangibles
Impairment of intangible assets and goodwill 202 838 1,038
EBITDA excluding restructuring 160 133 293
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Balance sheet

in accordance with IFRSs the directors have assessed whether there has been any indication that the
carrying values of intangible assets are not supported by the present value of their future cash flows As
a result of the global economic slowdown, and the uncertainty and general reduction to the current market
estimates of the growth of the digital and on-line music markets, and the continuing rapid decline of the
physical market, the directors have concluded there was sufficient doubt over the recoverability of the
carrying value of certain intangible assets to warrant an impairment review of the music catalogues

The directors performed a valuation exercise to determine the recoverable amount of the music
catalogues of both divisions, which resulted in an impairment of £138 million to the music catalogues of
the EMI Music Publishing division in the year ended 31 March 2010 (2009 £661 milion) and an

impairment of £165 milion 1n the EMI Music division (2009 £nil) The detalls of the assumptions and |

methodologies used In the Impairment reviews are set out in note 11 of these financial statements

In additton the directors performed the annual impairment assessment of the goodwill of each division,
and have recognised impairments of £195 milion (2009 £202 milion) and £104 milion (2009 £175
mithon) to the carrying values of the goodwill of the EMI Music and EMI Music Publishing dvisions
respectively

The total carrying value of the goodwill and intangible assets as at 31 March 2010 of the EMI Music
division and the EMI Music Publishing division were £1,806 million {2009 £2,315 million} and £2,466
milion (2008 £2,900 million) respectively The carrying values of the goodwill and intangible assets
have been reduced by amortisation and impairment charges

Financial habihties (excluding trade payables) of the Group totalled £3,662 miflion (2009 £3,811 mullion)
This comprised bank term loans and overdrafts of £3,044 milion (2009 £3,186 million), (the decrease
being partly as a result of foreign exchange), a shareholder loan of £398 million (2009 £346 million), (the
increase being a result of accrued interest charges) (see note 23), and other financial liabiities (being
primarily interest rate swaps) of £220 million (2009 £279 millon) Financial nsk management objectives
and policies and the Group's exposure tc financial nsks are set out in note 23 of the financial statements

At 31 March 2010 borrowings have been classfied as current because at that date the Group did not
have an unconditional nght to defer settlement of the hability for at least 12 months

Goamng concern

The operating performance of EMI has improved markedly over the period since its acquisition by its
current shareholders The Group's Profit before impairment and restructunng costs has increased from
£143m for the financial year ended March 2009 to £192m for the financial year ended March 2010 The
Group's Cash generated from operations has increased from £192m for the financial year ended March
2009 to £273m for the financial year ended March 2010 Ths represents a 34% increase In Profit before
impairment and restructuring costs and a 42% increase in Cash generated from operations over the last
financial year

This enhanced operational performance, together with equity injections provided to date by the
Company’s shareholders, means the Group 15 able to meet its ongoing working capital needs and its
current debt service obligations under the facites agreements to which the Company's indirect
subsidiary Maltby Investments Limited (“Maltby Investments”) and a number of its subsidiaries are party
However, the banking facilities contain a financial covenant for each division based on DebYEBITDA
which has been tghtening over the same penod to a greater extent than can be covered by the
improvement in the Group’s performance (especially within the EMI Music division) The covenant steps
down significantly each March year end making it progressively harder to achweve the required ratio
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The covenants are tested quarterly in respect of rolling one year penods ending on 31 March, 30 June, 30
September and 31 December The breach of a financial covenant (or any other covenant or the
occurrence of an event of default) renders all of the faciities repayable on demand at the option of the
lender As the financial covenant ratios have tightened over this period, shortfalls to the financtal covenant
have occurred and (due to the continued tightening of the financial covenants in future penods) are
antcipated to occur going forward, notwithstanding the operational improvements The requirement far
further equity cures 1s discussed in more detail below

The principal uncertainty for the Group 1s whether additional equity funding will be available in future
penods to enable 1t to comply with the financial covenant under the banking facilites Due to the sound
operating performance of the business, the directors believe that it would be in the interests of the
Group’s lender to maintain the Group's business as a going concern and to minimise any disruption to its
ongoing operations If the covenant were breached

In order to meet financial covenant tests in respect of several quarterly periods ended since 30
September 2008 the Group applied funds onginally provided by the Company’s shareholders under
equity cure provisions within the banking facilities as follows

2008 2009 2010
Quarter ended £m £m £m
31 March 3925 875
30 June 370
30 September 160 nil
31 December 1275 nil

The equity cure In relation to the quarter ended 31 March 2010 was effected on 10 June 2010 out of new
equity raised from the Company's shareholders of £78 1m together with £9 4m already held by the
Company These equity cures were made to ensure that the EMI Music division remained comphant with
the covenants relating to its financing facilites No cure was required for the EMI Music Pubhshing
division

The financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis In preparing the financial statements on
this basis the directors have taken account of the following matters

1 The Group meets its day to day working capital requirements and medium term funding requirements
through its banking faciliies which are repayable from 2014 and 2015

The directors have prepared base case trading and cash flow forecasts for a penod in excess of one year
from the date of approval of these financial statements which project that the total amount of each of the
facilities 15 not exceeded However, there are a number of nisks attached to these projections including
the current general economic climate, inherent risks that exist in the music market of market growth or
dechne varying from the rates expected and the nature of the Group’s business s such that there can be
considerable unpredictable vanation in the timing of earmings and cash inflows if there I1s a change In the
forecast release date for key projects

2 The latest projections for the Group indicate that funds of up to £26 9m in aggregate will be required for
cure purposes In respect of the 12 month test penods ending on 30 June 2010, 30 September 2010 and
31 December 2010 The Company has received a commitment from its shareholders to provide it with
further injections up to this amount prowvided that (1) no “Default” under the Group’s banking facilities 1s
continuing at the time of injectton and (i) at least 3 business days' notice of the cure amount required 1s
given by the Company to its shareholders In tumn, the Company will make funds of up to £26 9m
aggregate avarable to Maltby Investments in relation to the test penods remaining in 2010, provided that
(1) no “Default” under the Group's banking facilittes 1s continuing at the time of injection, (1) the provision
of such funds would result in the financial covenants being complied with, and (m) at least 5 business
days’ notice of the cure amount required 1s given by Maltby Investments to the Company
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In agreeing the amount of funds to be committed, no headroom 1n excess of the expected level of further
cure requirements for the three 12 month penods referred to above has been included and there are
uncertainties associated with the forecasts and projections for the business which could result in earnings
and cash flows being below therr forecast levels without mitigating facters occurring  The Group has
already factored Into its projections assumptions around tight cash management over this period so as to
minimise the quantum of cure payments it 1s required to make, so efforts to mitigate the impact of any
trading shortfall by further cash conservation measures is likely to be challenging There 1s therefore no
certainty that the committed funds will be sufficient to effect any cures which are required in relation to
penods ended up to 31 December 2010

3 The directors together with the directors of Maltby Investments continue to engage with the Company’s
shareholders and debt provider to ensure continued operations The current forecasts for the Group
indicate that it 1s likely there will be a further significant shortfall when the covenants under its banking
facilihes are tested as at 31 March 2011 Current indications are that in the absence of other initiatives
additional funds in an amount that could be substantially In excess of the total amount of equity cure
payments provided by the Company’s shareholders to cure covenant breaches for test periods ended
dunng the financial year to 31 March 2010 would be required from shareholders to fund the cure payment
for the test period ending 31 March 2011 The directors have been explonng vanious strategic options
which may be available to the Group but, even though the strategic optrons are expected to reduce the
quantum of the further equity injection, they consider that it 15 unlikely that the financial covenants tested
as at 31 March 2011 will be met without a further substantial equity injection In addition further smaller
cures may also be required in relation to the other test penods ending in 2011

Accordingly the directors will need to engage, together with Maltby Investments, in discussions with the
Company's shareholders for addittonal funding in respect of the above as they did for the additional equity
raised to cure the covenant for the test penod ended 31 March 2010 However, there i1s no certainty that
an agreement for further equity injections will be reached, or will be reached within the time available
under the Group's banking facilites

Consequently, should the conditions attached to the additonal funding which the Company’s
shareholders have undertaken to provide in relation to the June, September and December 2010 test
penods not be met or should the consent of the Company's shareholders to the provision of further equity
cure funding required in respect of the test period ending 31 March 2011 not be forthcoming, or not be
forthcoming within the applicable period, the outcome for the Group of a breach of financial covenants in
respect of these penods would be dependent upon discussions with the Group's lender This would also
be the case If any equity cure funding provided by the Company's shareholders was insufficient to
prevent breaches of financial covenants in relation to subsequent test periods, and consent of the
Company’s shareholders to any subsequent request for the proviston of further equity cure funding was
not forthcoming, or not forthcoming within the applicable period

In these circumstances, the directars consider that it would be in the interests of the Group's lender to
mantain the Group’s business as a going concern and to minimise any disruption to its ongoing
operations |n coming to this view, the directors have taken account of the improvement in the Group's
operating cashflow, which means that based on current forecasts the Group has suffictent cash flow to
meet its current debt service obligations under its banking facilities absent any breach of covenants which
would render all facilities repayable on demand at the option of the lender

The directors also recognise that existing forecasts indicate further significant shortfalls in respect of the
covenant test periods to the end of March in each year until the facilities expire in 2014 and 2015

The directors are aware of the ongoing Iiigation in respect of certain matters relating to the acquisition of
the Company's subsidiary, EMI Group Limited (formerly EMI Group plc) between, amongst others,
shareholders of the Company and the Group's lender Neither the Company nor any other members of
the Group 1s party to these proceedings
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EMI Group Limited has been in discussions with the Trustee of the EMI Group Pension Fund regarding
the cash contributions under the scheme funding regme Agreement has not been able to be reached
regarding a long-term funding policy for the Fund and absent such agreement the Pensions Regulator
has referred the matter to the Determinations Panel for resoluton The Group’s current lending
arrangements require the deficit existing at the date of acquisition of EMI Group Limited to be met by
addiional equity investment Under proposals put forward to the Determinations Panel, the scheme
funding deficit could fall somewhere In a range between £115 milion and £217 milion based on a
valuation at 31 March 2008 Absent any prior agreement with the Trustees, the size of this deficit and the
number of years over which the deficit 1s removed will be resolved by the Determinations Panel

The directors have concluded that the combination of these circumstances represents a material
uncertainty that may cast significant doubt upon the ability of the Group to continue as a going concern
The Group may therefore be unable to continue realising its assets and discharging its hlabilities n the
normal course of business The financial statements do not include any adjustments that would result
the Group were unable to continue as a going concern due to a withdrawal of the Group’s banking
faciities by the Group’s lender

Nevertheless, after making enquines and considering the uncertainty described above, the directors have
cencluded that they have a reasonable expectation that the Group as a whole has adequate resources to
continue as a going concern for the foreseeable future For these reasons, they continue to adopt the
going concern basis In preparing the annual report and financial statements

Risks

The Group's business faces a number of other nsks and uncertainties as 1s normal for a Group of its size,
complexity and geographic spread The directors consider that the principal nsks faced by the business
include

e The market for recorded music product has been declining and may continue to decline,

+ The current uncertainty in global economic conditions could adversely affect the prospects and
results of the business,

* The downward pressure on the pncing of music products leading to pressure on the margins,

¢ The dependence on identifying, signing and retaining artists with long-term potential, and the
effect of results of successful artists,

+ The continuing exposure of the music industry to illegal music downloads and file sharing,

« The seasonal fluctuation of the results of the business means that much of the revenue I1s
generated in the third quarter of each financial year, affecting the operating cash flow
requirements, and

¢ Unfavourable currency exchange rate fluctuations could adversely affect the results of
operations

Employees

The Group has continued to further its employee involvement policies These include the provision of
information to employees and consultation with their employee representatives on matters affecting them,
as well as reqular communication of financial information and details of the Group's performance Full
consideration ts given to applications for employment made by disabled persons Wherever possible the
employment of members of staff who become disabled will be contihued under normal terms and
conditions, and appropriate training and career development will be offered

Proposed dividend

The directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend (2009 £rl)
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Political and charnitable contributions

The Group made charnitable donations of £488,000 (2009 £900,000) dunng the year and made no
political donations (2009 Enil)

Directors

The directors who held office during the year were as follows

Arjan Breure (appointed 22 June 2010)

Ruth Prior (resigned 31 July 2009, reappointed 22 June 2310)
Duncan Fraser (appointed 28 June 2010)

Lord Birt (resigned 22 June 2010)

Andrew Chadd (resigned 22 June 2010)

Julie Wilhamson

Andre Bourbonnais

Stephen Alexander

Roger Faxon

Elio Leoni-Sceti {resigned 31 March 2010)
Patncia O'Dniscoll (resigned 22 June 2010)

Certain directors benefited from qualifying third party indemnity provisions in place dunng the financial
year and at the date of this report

Disclosure of information to auditors

The directors who held office at the date of approval of this directors’ report confirm that, so far as they
are each aware, there i1s no relevant audit information of which the Company's auditors are unaware, and
each director has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a director to make themselves
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company's auditors are aware of that
information

Auditors

Pursuant to Section 487 of the Companies Act 20086, the auditers will be deemed to be reappointed and
KPMG LLP will therefore continue In office

By order of the board

Py -~
7/
Roger Faxon 27 Wnights Lane
Director London
W8 58w
28 July 2010
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Statement of directors’ responsibilities in respect of the Directors’ Report
and the financial statements

The directors are responsible for preparing the Directors’ Report and the group and parent company financial
statements in accordance with apphcable law and regulations

Company law requires the directors to prepare group and parent company financial statements for each financial
year Under that law they have elected to prepare the group financial statements in accordance with IFRSs as
adopted by the EU and applicable law - and have elected to prepare the parent company financial statements In
accordance with UK Accounting Standards and applicable law (UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice)

Under company faw the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group and parent company and of their profit or loss for that pentod In
prepanng each of the group and parent company financial statements, the directors are required to

= select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistentty,

» make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent,

» for the group financial statements, state whether they have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by
the EL,

+ for the parent company financial statements, state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been
followed, subject to any matenal departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements, - and

* prepare the financral statements on the going concern basis unless it 1s inappropriate to presume that the group and
the parent company will continue 1n business

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
parent company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the parent
company and enable them to ensure that its financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006 They have
general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the group and
to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integnity of the corporate and financial information included on
the company's website Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements
may differ from legislation in other junsdictions
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KPMG LLP

8 Sabsbury Square
London

EC4Y 888

Uniuted Kingdom

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF MALTBY CAPITAL LIMITED

We have audited the financial statements of Maltby Capital Limited for the year ended 31 March 2010 set out on
pages 12 to 77 The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the group financial
statements 15 applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU The
financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the parent company financial statements 1s
applicable law and UK Accounting Standards (UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice)

This report 1s made solely to the company's members, as a body, n accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Comparues Act 2008 Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those
matters we are required to state to them in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume respensibility 1o anycne other than the company and the company’s
members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have fermed

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement set out on page 9, the direclors are responsible
for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and far view Our
responstbility 1s to audit the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and Intermational Standards on
Audring (UK and Ireland) Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board's (APB's) Ethical
Standards for Auditors

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

A description of the scope of an audt of financial statements 1s provided on the APB's web-site at
www frc org uk/apb/scope/UKNEP

Opinion on financial statements

In cur opinion

- the financial statements give a true and farr view of the state of the group's and of the parent company's affarrs as at
31 March 2010 and of the group's loss for the year then ended,

- the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with [IFRSs as adopted by the EU,

» the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice,

» the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006

Emphasis of matter - Going concern

In forming our opinion on the financial statements, which 1s not qualified, we have considered the adequacy of the
disclosure made in note 1 to the finanaal statements concerning the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
The Group ncurred a net loss of £512 million dunng the year ended 31 March 2010 and, at that date, the Group's
current habiliies exceeded its current assets by £3,255 milllon much of which i1s the result of the reclassification of the
Bank term loans from Non-current abilites to Current habilities

The abity of the Group to continue as a going concern s dependent upon the contnued availability of existing
banking facihiies, which require the Group to comply with the covenants set out in those faciities The ability of the
Group to comply with ts covenants 1s dependent upon the cutcome of the actions descnbed in note 1, in particular
the agreement of the Company's shareholders to the provision of equity cure funding on the basis descnbed, as well
as the Group’s ability to generate earnings and cash flows substantially in ine with its forecasts However, as
descnbed in note 1, notwithstanding the conditional commiiment received from the Company’s shareholders to
provide certain equity cure funding relating to the covenant test penods to 31 December 2010, there 1s no certainty
that such funding will be sufficient to effect all the cures required in relation to those test penods Furthermore,
current indications are that further funds will be required from the shareholders for cure payments in respect of the
test penods ending in 2011

Registered number 6309661 / 31 March 2010 10




INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF MALTBY CAPITAL LIMITED
{continued)

No agreement has yet been reached with the Company’s shareholders for such further equity
injections, nor 1s there any certainty that such an agreement will eventually be reached, or will be
reached within the time avanlable under the Group's banking facilities

Furthermore, a satisfactory funding agreement with the Trustees of the EMI Group Pension Fund
has not been reached As described in note 1, should contnbutions to remove any deficit in the
Fund be required prior to the expiry of the Group’s existing banking facilities, it 1s expected that,
absent agreement from the lender, funding for these contnbutions, which would be likely to be
spread over a number of years, will need to be met by additional funds from the shareholders
There 1s no certainty that such funds will be availlable

These conditicns, along with the other matters explained in note 1 to the financial statements,
indicate the existence of a matenal uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern The financial statements do not include the adjustments
that would result if the Group was unable to continue as a going concern

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
tn our opinion the information given in the Directors’' Report for the financial year for which the
financia! statements are prepared Is consistent with the financial statements

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Compames Act 2006
reguires us to report to you If, in our opimon

+ adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate
for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us, or

« the parent company financia! statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and
returns, or

« certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made, or

» we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit

H Green (Senior Statutory Auditor) 28 July 2010
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor

Chartered Accountants

8 Salisbury Square

London

EC4Y 8BB
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Maltby Camtal Limited

Drrectors’ report and consohidated financial statements

31 March 2010
Group consolidated income statement
for the year ended 31 March 2010
2010 2009
Note £m £m
Revenue 2 1,651 1,569
Cost of sales and distribution costs 2, {925) {877)
Gross profit 2 726 692
Operating expenses 2 (1,209) {1,726)
Share of profit from associates 2 2 3
Loss from operations, analysed as
Profit before iImpasrment and restructuring costs 192 143
Impairment 2 11 (602) (1,038}
Restructuring costs 27 (7 (136)
(481) (1,031
Loss from operations (481) {1,031)
Net finance charges
Finance income 161 67
Finance costs (304) {789)
Total net finance charges 6 {143) (722)
Loss before taxation (624) (1,753)
Taxation
Overseas {10} (31)
UK 122 217
Total taxation 8 112 186
Loss for the year (512) (1,567)
Attributable to
Equity holders of the parent (512) (1,567)
Minority interest - -
Loss for the year {512) {1,567)

The notes on page 17 to 74 form part of these consolidated financial statements
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Group consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 March 2010

Maltby Capital Limuted
Directors’ report and consolidated financial statements
31 March 2010

2010 2009

Note Em £m £m Em
Loss for the year (512) (1,567}
Other comprehensive {loss) / income
Foreign exchange movements (114) 576
Actuanal loss arising in the pension schemes 24 (167) {62)
Tax in relation to components of other comprehensive 27 49 20
income
Other comprehensive (loss) / income for the year, (232} 534
net of related tax
Total comprehensive loss for the year {744) {1,033)
Attributable to
Equity holders of the parent (744} {1,034)
Minority interest - 1
Total comprehensive loss for the year {744) {1,033)

The notes on page 17 to 74 form part of these consolidated financial statements
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Maltby Capnal Limited
Directors’ report and consolidated financial statements
31 March 2010

Group consolidated statement of financial position

at 31 March 2010
2010 2009
Note £m £m
Assets
Non-current assets
Music catalogues and other mtangibles g 3,086 3,660
Goodwill 10 1,186 1,555
Property, plant and equipment 12 182 186
Investments in associates 13 29 29
Financial assets 14 11 1
Pension assets 24 - 54
Deferred taxation 21 58 33
Qther receivables 15 11 2]
4,563 5,537
Current assets
Trade receivables 15 277 249
Advances 15 190 217
Corporation tax recoverable 15 17 20
Other receivables 15 69 82
Inventories 16 25 27
Cash and cash equivalents 17 343 336
921 931
Total assets 5,484 6,468
Liabilities
Current habilities
Trade and other payables 18 {951) {1,083)
Corporation tax payable 18 (33) (53)
Financial habilities 19 (3,1186) (88)
Other provisions for liabihties 22 (76) {115)
(4,178) {1,33%9)
Non-current habilities
Other payables 18 (144) 7
Shareholder loan 19 (398) (346)
Qther financial kabilities 19 (148) (3,377)
Pension habilities 24 (174) {49)
Deferred taxation 21 {1,080) {1,252)
{1,944) {5,031}
Total habilities {6,120} (6,370)
Neot (habilities) / assets (636) 98
Equity
Capital and reserves
Share capital 25 704 704
Foreign exchange reserve 670 784
Other reserve 521 559
Retained earnings (2,534) (1,952)
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent (639) 95
Minority interests 3 3
Total equity (636) 98

The notes on page 17 to 74 form part of these consclidated financial statements

These financial stat
by

Rager Faxo/

Director

ts weperapproved by the board of directors on 28 July 2010 and were signed on 1its behalf

.
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Maltby Capital Limited
Durectors’ report and consohidated financial statements

31 March 2010
Group consolidated statement of changes in equity
at 31 March 2010
Current year Attnbutable to equity holders of the Company
Foreign
Share exchange Other Retained Minority Total
capital reserve  reserve earnings Total Interast equlity
£m £m £m £m £m £m £Em
At 31 March 2009 704 784 §59  (1,952) 85 3 98
Loss for the year - - - {512) (512) - (512)
Other comprehensive iIncome
Actuaral loss ansing in the pension scheme - - - (167) {167) - (167}
Exchange difference on retranslation of foreign
operations - (114) - - {114) - (114}
Tax in relation to components of other - - - 49 49 - 49
comprehensive income
Total comprehensive loss for the year - {114) - (630) (744) - (744)
Reserves transfer resulting from unwind of gain
on shareholder loan - - {38) 38 - - -
Equity-settled share-based payment charge - - - 10 10 - 10
Total transactions with owners - - {38} 48 10 - 10
At 31 March 2010 704 670 521 {2,534) (639) 3 (636}
Prior year Attributable to equity holders of the Company
Foreign
Share exchange Other Retained Minority Total
capital reserve  reserve earnings Total Interest equity
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m
At 31 March 2008 704 209 - (370) 543 2 545
Loss for the year - - - {(1,567) (1,567) - (1,567)
QOther comprehensive income
Actuanal loss ansing m the pension scheme - - - (62) (62) - (62)
Exchange difference on retranslation of foreign
operations - 575 - - 575 1 576
Tax in relation to components of other - - - 20 20 - 20
comprehensive income
Total comprehensive loss for the year - 575 - {1,609) {1,034) 1 {1,033}
Gain on shareholder loan recognised directly in - - 809 - 809 - 809
equity
Deferred tax impact of gan on shareholder - - (226) - (226) - (226)
loan recegnised directly in equity
Reserves transfer resulting from unwind of gamn
on shareholder loan - - (24) 24 - - -
Equity-settled share-based payment charge - - - 3 3 - 3
Total transactions with owners - - 559 27 586 - 586
At 31 March 2009 704 784 559  {1,952) 95 3 98

The notes on page 17 to 74 form part of these consolidated financial statements
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Maltby Capital Limuted

Durectors’ report and consolidated financial statements

31 March 2010
Group consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 March 2010
2010 2009
Note £m £m
Loss before taxation (624) {1,753)
Net finance charges L} 143 722
Share of post tax earnings of associates 13 (2) (3)
Impairment 11 602 1,038
Depreciation 12 23 22
Armortisation 9 119 128
Profit on sale of subsidiaries - (2)
Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment 1 -
Equity settled share-based payments charge 10 3
Change In inventories 2 5
Change In recewvables 9 49
Change n payables 29 (N
Change n provisions (39) {10)
Cash generated from operations 273 192
Tax paid (23) (31)
Net cash generated from operating activities 250 161
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of businesses, net of cash acquired (2) -
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 12 (25) (13)
Purchase of music catalogues and other intangibles 8 (4) (8)
Disposal of subsidiaries - 5
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 4 -
Diwvdends received from investments 2 2
Interest received 6 1 13
Net cash used in Investing activities {24} (1)
Cash flows from financing activities
Financing
Loans repad {7) (102)
Capital element of finance lease repayments {4) Q)
Interest paid {179) (215)
Net cash used in financing activities {1980) (318)
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 36 {158)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 312 450
Exchange (losses) / gains on cash and cash equivalents in the year (11} 20
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 337 312
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year are comprised of
Cash at bank and in hand 17 343 336
Overdrafts 19 (8) (24)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 337 312
The notes on page 17 to 74 form part of these consalidated financial statements
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Maliby Capital Linmted
Drirectors’ report and consolidated financial statements
31 March 2010

Notes to the Group financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2010

1 Significant accounting policies

Maltby Capital Limited (the “Company”) Is a limited labiity company incorporated and domiciled in the UK
and registered in England and Wales The Company was incorporated on 11 July 2007  On 17 August
2007, Maltby Acguisitions Limited, an indirect subsidiary of the Company acquired the entire share capital
of EMI Group Limited {(formerly EMI Group plc)

These consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidianes (together the “Group™) and
its equity accounted associates present the results of the Group and associates for the year ended 31
March 2010, together with comparative financial information for the year ended 31 March 2009

The parent company financial statements present information about the Company as a separate entty
and not about its Group

Basis of preparation

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis, except for certain areas where farr
value measurement 1s required, as identified in the accounting policies below The consolidated financial
statements are presented n Sterling (£), which Is also the Company's functional currency The functional
currency of subsidianes, joint ventures and associated companies 1s the currency of the primary
economic environment in which they operate All financial information 1s presented in Sterling rounded to
the nearest £1 million

The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently to the
period presented In these Group financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (*Adopted IFRSs")

In these financial statements the following Adopted IFRSs which are effective for the first tme based on
EU effective dates, have impacted on the financial statement disclosures

+« Amendments to IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’

« Amendment to IFRS 7 ‘Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments’

The effect on the financial statements of the adoption of these standards and interpretations has been
described under the ‘Change in accounting policy’ heading below

Change 1n accounting policy
Starting as of 1 Apnl 2009, the Group has changed its accounting policies in the following areas
Amendments to IAS 1, ‘Presentation of Financial Statemenis A Revised Presentalion’

The revised version of IAS 1 1s mandatory for the first time this financial year The standard provides that
all owner changes in equity may be presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
non-owner changes in equity in the consoldated statement of comprehensive income

The standard includes non-mandatory changes to the titles of some of the financial statements, which
has resulted in a number of changes in presentation

As a result of the adoption of this revised IAS 1, the Group has changed the titles of its ‘consolidated
balance sheet’ to ‘consoldated statement of financial position’ and its ‘consolidated cash flow statement’
to ‘consolidated statement of cash flows’
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Maltby Captial Limited
Directors’ report and consolidated financial statements
31 March 2010

Notes to the Group financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2010

1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

The Group has elected to present a consolidated income statement and consolidated statement of
comprehensive income Comparative information has been represented so that it 1s also in conformity
with the revised standard

Amendments to IFRS 7, lmproving Disclosures about Financial Instruments’

In March 2009, the |IASB 1ssued amendments to IFRS 7 which require enhanced disclosures about fair
value measurements and lquidity nsk The amendments include the introduction of a three-level
hierarchy for farr value measurement disclosures and require additional disclosures about the relative
rehability of farr value measurements This has been included in note 23

There have been no further alterations made to the accounting pclicies as a result of considering all
amendments to IFRS and IFRIC interpretations that hecame effective durning the financial penied as these
were considered to be immatenal to the Group's operations or were not relevant

Going concern

The cperating performance of EMI has improved markedly over the period since its acquisition by its
current shareholders The Group's Profit before impairment and restructuring costs has increased from
£143m for the financial year ended March 2009 to £192m for the financial year ended March 2010 The
Group's Cash generated from operations has increased from £192m for the financial year ended March
2009 to £273m for the financial year ended March 2010 This represents a 34% increase In Profit before
impairment and restructuring costs and a 42% increase In Cash generated from operations over the last
financial year

This enhanced operational performance, together with equity injections provided to date by the
Company’'s shareholders, means the Group 1s able to meet its ongoing working capital needs and its
current debt service obligations under the facilities agreements to which the Company's indirect
subsidiary Maltby investments Limited (“Maltby Investments™) and a number of #ts subsidianes are party
However, the banking facilities contain a financial covenant for each division based on DebVEBITDA
which has been tightening over the same pernod to a greater extent than can be covered by the
improvement in the Group’s performance {especially within the EMI Music division) The covenant steps
down significantly each March year end making it progressively harder to achieve the required ratio

The covenants are tested quarterly in respect of rolling one year periods ending on 31 March, 30 June,
30 September and 31 December The breach of a financial covenant (or any other covenant or the
occurrence of an event of default) renders all of the facilities repayable on demand at the option of the
lender As the financial covenant ratios have tightened over this period, shortfalls to the financial
covenant have occurred and (due to the continued tightening of the financial covenants in future penods)
are anticipated to occur going forward, notwithstanding the operational improvements The requirement
for further equity cures 1s discussed in more detall below

The principal uncertainty for the Group 15 whether additional equity funding will be available in future
periods to enable it to comply with the financial covenant under the banking facilities Due to the sound
operating performance of the business, the directors believe that it would be in the interests of the
Group’s lender to maintain the Group's husiness as a going concern and to minimise any disruption to its
ongoing operations If the covenant were breached

In order to meet financial covenant tests in respect of several quarterly penods ended since 30
September 2008 the Group applied funds onginally provided by the Company’s shareholders under
equity cure provisions within the banking facilities as follows
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Maltby Captial Limited
Directors’ report and consohidated financial statements

31 March 2010

Notes to the Group financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2010
1 Significant accounting policies {continued)

2008 2009 2010
Quarter ended £m £m fm
31 March 3825 875
30 June 370
30 September 160 nn
31 December 1275 nl

The equity cure In relation to the quarter ended 31 March 2010 was effected on 10 June 2010 out of new
equity raised from the Company's shareholders of £78 im together with £9 4m already held by the
Company These equity cures were made to ensure that the EMI Music division remained comphant with
the covenants relating to its financing faciittes No cure was required for the EMI Music Publishing
division

The financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis In prepanng the financial statements on
this basis the directors have taken account of the following matters

1 The Group meets its day to day working capital requirements and medium term funding requirements
through its banking facilities which are repayable from 2014 and 2015

The directors have prepared base case trading and cash flow forecasts for a penod In excess of one year
from the date of approval of these financial statements which project that the total amount of each of the
faciihies 1s not exceeded However, there are a number of nsks attached to these projections including
the current general economic cimate, inherent nsks that exist in the music market of market growth or
decline varying from the rates expected and the nature of the Group’s business 1s such that there can be
considerable unpred:ctable variation in the tming of earnings and cash inflows if there 15 a change in the
forecast release date for key projects

2 The latest projections for the Group indicate that funds of up to £26 9m in aggregate will be required for
cure purposes In respect of the 12 month test periods ending on 30 June 2010, 30 September 2010 and
31 December 2010 The Company has received a commitment from its shareholders to provide it with
further injections up to this amount provided that (1) no *Default’ under the Group's banking facilities 1s
continuing at the time of Injechon and (1) at least 3 business days’ notice of the cure amount required 1s
given by the Company to its shareholders In turn, the Company will make funds of up to £26 9m In
aggregate available to Maltby Investments in relation to the test penods rematning 1n 2010, provided that
() no “Default” under the Group's banking facilities 1s continuing at the time of injection, (i) the provision
of such funds would result in the financial covenants being complied with, and (in) at least 5 business
days’ notice of the cure amount required i1s given by Maltby Investments to the Company In agreeing the
amount of funds to be committed, no headroom n excess of the expected level of further cure
requrements for the three 12 month penods referred to above has been included and there are
uncertainties assoctated with the forecasts and projections for the business which could result in earmings
and cash flows being below their forecast levels without mitigating factors occurrng The Group has
already factored into its projections assumptions around tight cash management over this penod so as to
minimise the quantum of cure payments 1t 1s required to make, so efforts to mitigate the impact of any
trading shortfall by further cash conservation measures 1s likely to be challenging There Is therefore no
certainty that the committed funds will be sufficient to effect any cures which are required n relation te
periods ended up to 31 December 2010

3 The Drrectors together with the Directors of Maltby Investments continue to engage with the
Company’s shareholders and debt provider to ensure continued operations The current forecasts for the
Group Indicate that it 1s hkely there will be a further significant shortfall when the covenants under its
banking faciliies are tested as at 31 March 2011
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Maltby Captial Limuted
Directors’ report and consolidated financial statements
31 March 2010

Notes to the Group financial statements {continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2010

1 Significant accounting policies {continued)

Current indications are that in the absence of other intiatives additional funds in an amount that could be
substantially in excess of the total amount of equity cure payments provided by the Company's
shareholders to cure covenant breaches for test periods ended duning the financial year to 31 March
2010 would be required from shareholders to fund the cure payment for the test perod ending 31 March
2011 The directors have been explonng various strategic options which may be available to the Group
but, even though the strategic options are expected to reduce the quantum of the further equity injection,
they consider that it 1s unlikely that the financial covenants tested as at 31 March 2011 will be met without
a further substantial equity njection In addition further smaller cures may also be required in relation to
the other test penods ending in 2011

Accordingly the directors will need to engage, together with Maltby Investments, in discussions with the
Company’s shareholders for addiional funding In respect of the above as they did for the additional
equity raised to cure the covenant for the test period ended 31 March 2010 However, there 15 no
certainty that an agreement for further equity injections will be reached, or will be reached within the time
available under the Group's banking facilities

Consequently, should the conditions attached to the addional funding which the Company’s
shareholders have underiaken te provide in relation to the June, September and December 2010 test
pernods not be met or should the consent of the Company’s shareholders to the provision of further equity
cure funding required i respect of the test penod ending 31 March 2011 not be forthcoming, or not be
forthcoming within the applicable perod, the outcome for the Group of a breach of financial covenants in
respect of these periods would be dependent upon discussions with the Group's lender This would also
be the case if any equity cure funding provided by the Company's shareholders was tnsufficient to
prevent breaches of financial covenants in relation to subsequent test periods, and consent of the
Company’'s shareholders to any subsequent request for the prowision of further equity cure funding was
not forthcoming, or not forthcoming within the applicable penod

In these circumstances, the directors consider that it would be in the interests of the Group’s lender to
maintain the Group’s business as a going concern and to minimise any disruption to its ongoing
aperations In coming to this view, the directors have taken account of the improvement in the Group's
operating cashflow, which means that based on current forecasts the Group has sufficient cash flow to
meet its current debt service obligations under its banking facilites absent any breach of covenants which
would render all facilities repayable on demand at the option of the lender

The directors also recognise that existing forecasts indicate further significant shortfalls in respect of the
covenant test periods to the end of March in each year until the facilihes expire in 2014 and 2015

The directors are aware of the angoing liigation In respect of certain matters relating to the acquisition of
the Company's subsidiary, EMI Group Limited {formerly EMI Group plc) between, amongst others,
shareholders of the Company and the Group's lender Neither the Company nar any other members of
the Group 1s party to these proceedings

EMI Group Limited has been in discussions with the Trustee of the EMI Group Pension Fund regarding
the cash contributions under the scheme funding regme Agreement has not been able to be reached
regarding a long-term funding policy for the Fund and absent such agreement the Penstons Regulator
has referred the matter to the Determinations Panel for resolution The Group's current lending
arrangements require the deficit existing at the date of acquisiion of EMI Group Limited to be met by
additional equity investment Under proposals put forward to the Determinations Panel, the scheme
funding deficit could fall somewhere in a range between £115 million and £217 million based on a
valuation at 31 March 2008 Absent any prior agreement with the Trustees, the size of this deficit and the
number of years over which the deficit 1s removed will be resolved by the Determinations Panel

The directors have concluded that the combination of these circumstances represents a matenal
uncertainty that may cast significant doubt upan the ability of the Group to continue as a going concern
The Group may therefore be unable to continue realising its assets and discharging its liabilities in the
normal course of business The financial statements do not include any adjustments that would result if
the Group were unable to continue as a going concem due to a withdrawal of the Group’s banking
facilities by the Group's lender
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Maltby Captial Limited
Drrectors’ report and consohidated financial statements
31 March 2010

Notes to the Group financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2010

1 Significant accounting policies (continued}

Nevertheless, after making enquines and considenng the uncertainty descnbed above, the directors have
concluded that they have a reasonable expectation that the Group as a whole has adequate resources to
continue as a going concern for the foreseeable future For these reasons, they continue to adopt the
going concern basis in prepanng the annual report and financial statements

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements compnse the financial statements of Maltby Capital Limited and its
subsidianes, and their interests in associates and joint ventures, for the year ended 31 March 2010

Subsidianes are consolidated from the date on which control 1s transferred to the Group and cease to be
consolidated from the date on which control Is transferred out of the Group Where there 1s a loss of
control of a subsidiary, the consolidated financial statements include the results for the part of the
reporting year during which Maltby Capital Limited has control

All intercompany balances and transactions, including unrealised profits and losses ansing from intra-
Group transactions, have been eliminated wn full

Investments in joint ventures and associates

The Group's Investments in its associates are accounted for using the equity method The investment 1s
carried in the balance sheet at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of net assets of
the associate, less any imparment in value or dividends received The Group's share of the results after
interest and tax of the associate are included in profit from operatons When an asscciate has
recognised a change 1n net assets other than through the income statement, the Group recognises its
share of the change and discloses it, when applicable, in the statement of changes in equity

The Group has a number of jointly controlled operations where there is no separate legal entity The
expenses that the Group incurs, and the share of the income that the Group eamns from the sale of goods
by these jointly controlled operations, are included in the income statement The assets that the Group
controls and the labilites that the Group incurs in respect of these jointly controlled operations are
included in the statement of financial position

Foreign currency translation

At an entity level, transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded tn the functiona! currency at the
rate rubng on the date of the transaction Monetary assets and habilities denominated in foreign
currenctes are translated at the functional currency rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date All
differences are taken to the income statement Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a fereign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the farr values were determined

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and far value
adjustments ansing on consolidation, are translated into sterling at the rate of exchange ruling at the
balance sheet date and ther income statements are translated at the average exchange rates for the
period The exchange differences ansing on the retranslation of foreign operations are taken directly to a
separate component of equity On disposal of a foreign operation, the deferred cumulative amount
recognised In equity relating to that particular foreign operation I1s recognised in the income statement

The average and pernod end exchange rates of the principle currencies used in prepanng these financial
statements are as follows

As at Year ended As at Year ended

31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March

2010 2010 2009 2009

US Dollar to £1 152 159 143 169
Eurc to £1 112 112 108 120
Yen to £1 142 146 142 169
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Notes to the Group financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2010

1 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Business combinations and goodwill

The purchase method of accounting 1s used to account for the acquisitian of subsidianies The cost of an
acquisition 18 measured as the farr value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and habilihes
incurred or assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs drectly attributable to the acquisibon
Identifiable assets acquired, and liabilities and contingent habilities assumed, in a business combination
are measured initially at their far values at the acquisition date, irespective of the extent of any mmnonty
interest The excess of the cost of the acquisition over the farr value of the Group's share of the
identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill

Goodwill on acquisition 1s inibally measured at cost  Following inihal recognition, goodwill 1s measured at
cost less any accumulated impairment losses Goodwill I1s allecated to cash-generating units and Is not
amortised but 1s tested annually for impairment In respect of equity accounted investees, the carrying
amount of goodwill 1s Included in the carrying amount of the investment in the investee

For an asset, such as goodwilll, that does not generate largely independent cash flows, the recoverable
amount, which 1s the higher of fair value less cost to sell and value in use, 1s determined for the smallest
identifiable Group of assets including that asset that generates cash inflows that are largely independent
of the cash inflows from other assets or Groups of assets (a ‘cash generating unit’)

Intangible assets
Intangible assets are carned at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses

Intangible assets acquired separately from a business are capitalised at cost An intangble asset
acquired as part of a business combmation 1s recogrised outside goodwill If the asset I1s separable or
anses from contractual or other legal rights, and its farr value can be measured reliably

Fellowing initial recognition, intangible assets with finite ives are amortised on a straight ine basis over
therr estimated useful ives These lives are estimated on an individual asset by asset basis, and are as
follows

Music catalegues Up to 50 years

Artist and songwriters contracts Over the duraticn of the contract
Trade names 30 years

Other contractual arrangements Between 3 and 25 years
Software 4 to 7 years

Intangible assets are tested for impairment at each balance sheet date If events or changes In
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable Useful lives are examined on an
annual basis and adjustments, where applicable, are made on a prospective basis

Intangible assets created within the business that cannot be distinguished from the cost of developing the
business as a whole are not capitalised Any relevant expenditure 1s charged aganst profit from
operations in the penod in which the expenditure I1s incurred

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in
value Depreciation i1s calculated on a straight ine basis to wnte off the cost, less residual value, of assets
over the estimated useful life of the asset The useful ives used are

Freehold bulldings Up to 50 years
Property held under finance leases and leasehold improvements  Lower of lease term and useful life
Plant, equipment and vehicles 3 - 10 years
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Notes to the Group financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2010

1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for imparment when events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable Where an indicator of
impairment exists, the Group makes an estimate of the recoverable amount, which 1s the higher of the
asset's fair value less cost to sell and value In use Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its
recoverable amount, the asset s considered impaired and 1s wniten down to its recoverable amount

Assets are derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to anse from
the continued use of the asset Any gain or loss ansing on de-recognition of the asset (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying value of the asset) 1s inctuded i the
income statement in the penod in which the item 1s derecognised

Leases

Assets which are held under a finance lease, which transfers to the Group substantially all the nisks and
benefits incidental to ownership of the leased item, are capitalised at the inception of the lease, with a
corresponding liabiity being recognised for the fair value of the leased asset or, If lower, at the present
value of the minimum lease payments Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and a
reduction of the lease lability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the
lease hability Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful Iife of
the asset and the lease term

Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the nsks and benefits of ownership of the asset are
classified as operating leases Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the income
statement on a straight ine basis over the lease term

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised when the Group becomes party to the contracts that give nse to them
and are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receiwvables, held-to-
matunty investments, ar as avallable-for-sale financial assets, as appropnate When financial assets are
recognised initially, they are measured at far value, being the transaction pnce and in the case of
financial assets not at fair value through prefit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs

Available-for-sale investments are held on the balance sheet at far value, with any changes in value
being recogrised in equity When available-for-sale equity instruments do not have a quoted market price
in an active market and where the farr value cannot be reliably measured, the avalable-for-sale
investments are held on the balance sheet at cost less any imparment in value and loans and
receivables are held on the balance sheet at amortised cost

Those investments classified as farr value through profit and loss, including denvatives, are held on the
balance sheet at far value, with any changes in fair value being recogrised in the income statement
along with gains or losses on disposal

Inventornies

Inventonies are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value Cost 1s based on the weighted
average method and includes expenditure incurred in acquinng the inventones, production and other
costs 1n bringing them to their existing location and conditien In the case of manufactured inventenes and
work in progress, cost includes an appropnate share of overheads based on normal operating capacity

Advances

In the ordinary course of business the Group pays advances and other expenses recoupable from future
royalties to performing arhists, songwnters, producers and third party repertoire owners The amounts
paid are carmed at cost less recoupment and less an allowance for any un-recoupable amounts The
allowance Is based on past revenue performance, current populanty and projected revenue

Advances are recoupable dunng the business operating cycle All advances are therefore reported as
current assets, including advances reccupable more than 12 months after the balance sheet date
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Trade receivables

Trade receivables, which generally have 30-90 day terms, are recognised and carnied at the onginally
inveiced amount less an allowance for any doubtful debts An estimate for doubtful debts 1s made when
collection of the full amount 1s no longer probable Bad debts are written off when identified

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents In the balance sheet comprise cash at bank and 1n hand and short-term
deposits with an oniginal maturity of three months or less For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow
statement, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash at bank and in hand and short-term deposits net of
outstanding bank overdrafts

Financial liahilities
Borrowings

All loans and borrowings are (nitially recogrused at the fair value of the consideration received net of
directly attributable transaction costs associated with the borrowing  After initial recognitton, interest-
beanng loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
methed Amortised cost i1s calculated by taking into account any directly attnbutable transaction costs
associated with 1ssumng the habtlity, as well as any discount or premium on settlement Gains and losses
oh de-recognition are recognised In finance charges

A substantal modification of the terms of an existing financial liability or a part of it shall be accounted for
as an extinguishment of the anginal financial hability and the recognition of a new financial habiity Any
gain or loss on extinguishment 1s recognised n profit or loss except to the extent that 1t arises as a result
of transactions with shareholders acting in their capacity as shareholders when it 1s recogrused directly in
equity The terms are considered to be substantally different If the discounted present value of the cash
flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received and discounted using the
onginal effective interest rate, 1s at least 10 per cent different from the discounted present value of the
remaining cash flows of the onginal financial labtity Any costs or fees incurred are recognised as part of
the gain or loss on the extinguishment

The Group pnmarnly has financial labilities that are on a floating basis (vanable), that are denominated in
sterling (GBP), US Dollars (USD), as well as Euros (EUR) The financial habilites have been
economically hedged using financial derivatives, including interest rate swaps and interest rate caps, to
manage the exposure to fluctuations in interest rates across the three pnmary operationa! currencies
although hedge accounting has not been applied Foreign exchange financial derivatives are not used by
the Group to manage the exposure of financial liabilities to fluctuations Foreign currency denominated
financial liabilities are used to fund subsidiary operations where the foreign currency I1s the prnimary
currency used for operational activity

Borrowings are classified as current when the borrowings are due to be settled within the next 12 months
after the reporbng date or when the Company does not have the uncondihional nght to defer settlement
for at least 12 months after the reporting date All other barrowings are classified as non-current

Fmancial derivatives

The Group uses dervative financial instruments such as interest rate swaps and caps to economically
hedge nisks associated with interest rate fluctuations Such derivative financial instruments are measured
at farr value on the balance sheet at inception and at subsequent reporting penods The farr values of
interest rate swaps and caps are determined by reference to market rates for similar instruments

Interest rate denvatives used to hedge floating rate financial habiliies are not designated as cash flow
hedges and so gains or losses ansing from changes in the measurement of the farr value of financial
denvatives are taken directly to the income statement
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a
past event, when 1t 1s probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation and when a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation Where
the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract,
the reimbursement 1s recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement 15 wirtually
certain The expense relating to any provision 1s presented In the income statement net of any
reimbursement [f the effect of the time value of money on the quantification of the provision 1s matenal,
provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the nsks specific to the habiity Where
discounting 15 used, the increase In the provision due to the passage of time 1s recognised as finance
costs

Pensions and other employee benefits

The Group operates a number of major defined benefit pension schemes, plus a number of smaller
defined benefit pension schemes

A defined benefit plan 1s a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan The
Group's net obligation 1n respect of defined benefit pension plans i1s calculated separately for each plan
by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the
current and prior penods, that benefit 1s discounted to determine its present value Any unrecognised past
service costs and the farr value of any plan assets are deducted The discount rate 15 the yield at the
reporting date on AA credit-rated bonds that have maturity dates approximating the terms of the Group’'s
obligations and that are denominated in the same currency in which the benefits are expected to be pad
The calculation 1s performed annually by a qualfied actuary using the projected unit credit method When
the calculation results in a benefit to the Group, the recognised asset 1s imited to the tota! of any
unrecognised past service costs and the present value of economic benefits available in the form of (1) a
unconditional nght to a refund from the plan or (i) reductions in future contnbutions to the plan as
measured by the estimated future service cost less the estimated minimum funding contnbutions required
in respect of the future accrual of benefits in that year An economic benefit 1s available to the Group If it
1s realisable dunng the life of the plan, or on settlement of the plan habilites In additon a prowvision for
future mimimum funding contnbutions 1s recorded to the extent that such payments are required to cover
an existing shortfall as measured on a mimimum funding contribution basis and having been paid will not
be available as a refund or a reduction in future contributions to the plan

The current service cost of each of the schemes 1s charged against profit from operations Expected
returns on defined benefit scheme assets and interest on defined benefit scheme liabilites are included
as finance income and finance costs respectively All actuanal gains and losses are recognised in the
period they occur directly in equity through the statement of changes in equity

In addition, the Group operates a number of defined contnbution schemes Contnbutions to defined
contribution schemes are charged to the income statement as incurred

Employee benefits other than post-employment benefits that can be camed forward if they have not been
used are accrued as they are earned until the benefit 1s paid or used Those employee benefits that are
foregone If not taken at the time are expensed when incurred

Share-based payments

Employees of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based payment transactions, whereby
employees render services as censideration for equity instruments (‘equity-settied transactions’) and
share appreciation units, which can only be settled in cash (‘cash-settled transactions’)

Certain awards are settled in cash by Terra Firma Investments Limited, the parent company of Maltby
Capital Limited, these are treated as equity-settled in the consolidated financial statements of Maltby
Capital Limited
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Equity-settled transactions

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees 1s measured by reference to the far value at the
date on which they are granted The fair value 1s determined by an external valuer using an appropnate
valuation methodology, further details are given in note 28

The cost of equity-settled transactions 1s recognised, together with a corresponding increase 1n equity,
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on
which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award {‘the vesting date’) The cumulative
expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until the vesting date reflects
the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest The income statement expense or credit for a perod represents the
movement \n cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that penod

No expense 1s recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting Is
conditional upon a market condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the
market condition 1s satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, the minimum expense recognised s the
expense as if the terms had not been modified An additional expense 1s recogrised for any modification,
which increases the total fair value of the share-based payment arrangement, or 1s otherwise beneficial to
the employee as measured at the date of modification

Where an equity-settled award 1s cancelled, it 1s treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation,
and any expense not yet recognised for the award 1s recogmised immediately This includes any award
where nonvesting conditions within the control of either the entty or the counterparty are not met
However, If a new award 1s substituted for the cancelled award, and designated as a replacement award
on the date that it 1s granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as If they were a modification of
the onginal award, as described in the previous paragraph

Cash-settled transactions

The cost of cash-settled transactions is measured initially at far value at the grant date using a Monte
Carlo simulation opticn pricing model, further details of which are given in note 28 This fair value Is
expensed over the period until the vesting date with recognition of a corresponding hability The liabibty i1s
re-measured to fair value at each balance sheet date up to and including the settlement date with
changes in fair value recognised in the Income statement

Revenue

Revenue Is recognised to the extent that it 1s probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group
and the revenue can be relably measured The following specific recognition critena must also be met
before revenue 1s recognised

- Sale of goods revenue 1s recognised when the significant nsks and rewards of ownership of the goods
have passed to the buyer, 1 & on despatch, and can be reliably measured Revenue 1s measured at far
value after making provision in respect of expected future returns of goods and services suppled by the
Group pnior to the balance sheet date,

- Copynght, royalty, license and other income revenue I1s recognised based on the contractual
arrangements entered into with third parties, which allow them to exploit the Group’s intellectual property
in return for a fee Where the fees due to the Group are dependent upon usage, revenue Is recognised
based upon that usage Where no rehable basis 1s avalable for estimating such usage, revenue Is
recognised when reported to the Group by third parties When revenue relates to a long term contract,
revenue Is recognised over the life of the contract as revenue I1s earned
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Where an agreement 1s, in substance, an outright sale, income 1s recognised as revenue immediately
For an outnght sale to have occurred, the licensee must have signed a non-cancellable contract, pad a
fixed fee which 1s not subject to adjustment based on future usage, been provided with the means to
freely exploit ther contractual nghts, and have not significant ongoing reliance on the Group (as the
Licensor) to perform any other delivery obligatons In addition, the artist royalty cost associated with the
income must have been accurately quantified

Interest Income 1s recognised when 1t has been earned and can be reliably measured
Finance charges

Finance costs comprise Interest payable on borrowings calculated using the effective interest rate
method, net foreign exchange losses, losses on hedging instruments and interest payable on defined
benefit pension scheme liabilities

Finance income compnses interest receivable on funds invested calculated using the effective interest
rate method, dvidend income, net foreign exchange gamns, gains on hedging instruments and interest
recevable on defined benefit pension scheme assets

Income tax

Income tax on the profit or loss for the period compnses current and deferred tax Income tax I1s
recogmised In the income statement except to the extent that it relates to items recogrised directly in
equity, in which case it 1s recognised n equity

Current tax 1s the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the penod, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous
periods

Deferred tax 1s recognised for all temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
labilities for financial reporting purposes and the tax base The following temporary differences are not
provided for the initial recognition of goodwill or of assets or labilihes that affect neither accounting nor
taxable profit that 1s not a business combination, and temporary differences relating to investments in
subsidiaries where the tming of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and to the
extent that it 1s probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future The
amount of deferred tax provided 1s based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the
carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance
sheet date

A deferred tax asset 1s recognised only to the extent that it 1s probable that future taxable profits will be
avallable against which the asset can be utilised

Registered number 6309661 / 31 March 2010 27




Maltby Captial Limuted
Directors” report and consolidated financial statements
31 March 2010

Notes to the Group financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2010

1 Significant accounting policies {continued)
Divisional analysis

A divisional segment 1s a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may
earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any
of the Group's other components All operating segments’ operating results are reviewed regularly by the
Group's Executive Board to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess
its performance, and for which discrete financial information 1s available

Adopted IFRS not yet applied

The following Adopted IFRSs have been issued but have not been applied by the Group in these financial
statements Their adoption 1s not expected to have a material affect on the financial statements unless
otherwise Indicated

Amendments to IAS 27 ‘Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements’

The revised IFRS 3 and amended IAS 27 are the outcomes of the second phase of the IASB's and the
US Financial Accounting Standards Board's (FASB) joint business combination project The more
significant changes from the revised IFRS 3 include

* The immediate expensing of acquisition-related costs rather than inclusion in goodwill, and

e recognition and measurement at fair value of contingent consideration at acquisition date with
subsequent changes to Income

The amendments to IAS 27 reflect changes to the accounting for non-controfling {(minonty) interests

The revised IFRS 3 and amended IAS 27 are effective for business combinations occurning in accounting
perieds beginning on or after 1 July 2009

Amendments to IFRS 2 ‘Group Cash-Seltled Share-based payments transactions’

In June 2009, the IASB 1ssued further amendments to IFRS 2 which sets out the accounting requirements
for share-based payments These amendments clanfied existing guidance, in particular by specifying that
an entity that receves goods or services in a share-based payment arrangement must account for those
goods or services no matter which entity in the group settles the transaction and no matter whether the
transaction 15 settled in shares or cash The Group s still assessing the impact of the standard but it 1s
not expected o have a matenal impact on the Group'’s financial statements

Improvements to IFRSs (2009)

in Apni 2009, the IASB published amendments to a number of standards as part If its annual
improvements projects These amendments are effective for the Group’s 2011 financial statements The
Group 1s currently assessing the impact of these improvements to its financial statements

IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’

In November 2008, the IASB I1ssued a new standard which altered the classification and measurement of
financial instruments Under the new standard only two possible ctassifications anse, rather than the four
existing classifications currently available under IAS 39, and will result in all financial assets being valued
at amortised cost or fair value through profit and loss Financial habilities are excluded from the scope of
the standard The standard 1s not mandatory before 2013 year-ends and I1s yet to be endorsed by the
European Union The Group 1s stili assessing the full impact of this standard
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Amendments to IFRIC 14 IAS 19 ‘The hmit on a defined benefit — assets, munimum funding requirements
and therr iteraction

In November 2008, the |IASB 1ssued an amendment to its requirements onh accounting for pension plans
The amendment Is to IFRIC 14, which 1s itself an interpretation of IAS 19 Employee Benefits The
amendment applies in the hmited circumstances when an entity 1s subject to minmum funding
requirements and makes an early payment of contributions to cover those requirements The amendment
permits such an entity to treat the benefit of such an early payment as an asset The amendment,
Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement has an effective date for mandatory adoption of 1
January 2011 The Group 1s currently assessing the impact of these improvements to its financial
statements

2 Divisional analysis

From 1 Apnl 2009, the Group has presented some divisional analysis hased on informatien which 1s
provided internally to the Executive Board as 1t 1s this Board that makes the key operating decisions of the
Group

The Directors consider there to be two reporting dwisions, that of Recorded Music and Music Publishing

Recorded Music's business primarily focuses on monetising its extensive catalogue, the discovery and
development of artists, and the related marketing, distnbution and licensing of recorded music produced
by such artists Music Publishing 1s in the business of acquiring, protecting, admimistering and exploiting
nghts 1n musical compositions, while at the same time servicing both songwnters and hcensors of music
alike

The reportable divisions engage in business activities from which the Group may eam revenues and incur
expenses, Including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the group’s other
components The strategic business umts offer different products and services, and are managed
separately

There 15 no inter-divisional trading between the two divisions
During the year ended 31 March 2009 and 2010, the Music Publishing division was charged £3 million by

the Recorded Music division which represented a fair charge for group services performed by it on behalf
of the Music Publishing division This amount was invoiced and paid dunng the penod
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2 Divisional analysis (continued)
Recorded Music Music Publishing Total
Yearended Yearended Yearended Yearended Yearended Yearended
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Sales revenue 1,173 1,101 - - 1,173 1,101
Royalty revenue - - 478 468 478 468
Total revenue 1,173 1,101 478 468 1,651 1,569
Cost of sales (627) (572) (256) {257) (883) (829)
Distnbution costs (42) {48) - - (42} (48)
Gross profit 504 481 222 211 726 692
Gross profit 504 481 222 211 726 692
Admimistrative expenses (320) (321) (72) {78) {392) (3989}
EBITDA excluding restructuning 184 160 150 133 334 293
Restructunng costs (76} (131) 5 (5) (71) (136)
Administrative expenses {320) (321) (72) (78) {352) (399)
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets (20) (19) (3) (3) (23) {22)
Amortisation of copynghts and other (59) (57} (60) (71} {119} (128)
intangibles
Impairment of intangible assets (360) {202) (242) (836) (602) (1,038)
Add back
Share of profit from associates (&} (2) {1 (1) (2) (3)
Operating expenses (836) (732} (373) (994) (1,209) {1,726)
Share of profit from associates 1 2 1 1 2 3
Loss from operations (331) (249) {150) (782) (481) {1,031}
Net cash generated from operating activities 124 41 126 120 250 161
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The directors believe that distribution costs are largely vanable in nature and as such are considered to

be part of the gross margin of the business

The following items have been included in amving at loss from operations

Year ended Year ended

31 March 31 March

2010 2009

£m Em

Staff costs (see note 5) 271 37

Cost of inventories recognised as an expense (included in cost of sales) 10 19

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Owned assets 22 21

Leased assets 1 1

Amortisation of music catalogues and other intangibles 19 128

Impairment of music catalogues and other intangibles (see note 9) 303 661

Impairment of goodwill (see note 10) 299 377

Operating lease rentals payable 27 27

4 Fees to auditors

Year ended Year ended

31 March 31 March

2010 2009

£m £m

Audit of these financial statements 1 1
Amounts recewvable by auditors and their associates in respect of

Audtt of financial statements of subsidiaries pursuant to legistation 4 4

Services relating to taxation 1 1

All other services 7 -

Total fees paid to auditors 13 6

Amounts paid to the Company’'s auditors and therr associates in respect of services to the Company,
other than the audit of the Company’s financial statements, have not been disclosed as the information 1s
required instead to be disclosed on a consolidated basis Fees paid to the auditors in relation to other
services relate principally to work on projects to finance or refinance the Group’s operations including

assistance in retation to potential disposals
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5 Director and employee costs

Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
2010 2009
Director and employee costs £€m £m
Wages and salaries 209 209
Social secunty costs 29 28
Defined contributicn pension cost 1 2
Defined benefit pension cost 9 6
Termination payments (including curtaiiment gain of £2 5 million (2009 £3 13 66

million)
Share-based payments — equity settled (non-cash) 10 3
Share-based payments — cash settled - 3
271 317
Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
2010 2009
Director’ costs £m £m
Directors' emoluments 6 1
Compensation for loss of office 1 -
Amounts paid to third parties 1n respect of directors' services 3 3
Amounts related to long term incentive schemes — equity settled 10 1
Amounts related to long term incentive schemes — cash settled - -
20 5

The regular emoluments of the highest pard director were £2 8million (2009 £0 8million) and company
pension contributions of £nil (2009 £nil) were made to a money purchase scheme on his behalf

Payments made to Directors included that for compensation for loss of office, comprising cash charges of
£15 millon Additionally, under the accounting rules of IFRS 2, Share Based Payments following the
director’s loss of office, non-cash charges relating to nghts under the long term equity settled incentive
scheme of £94 millon were also crystalised These non-cash charges are based on a theoretical
calculation of the value of the nghts on the date they were onginally granted, being 4 July 2008, and not
their value at the time of leaving the company which the directors consider to be very substantiaily less

Numbaer of directors

Year endod Year ended
31 March 31 March
2010 2009
Retirement benefits are accruing to the following number of directors under

Money purchase schemes 2 2

The number of directors In respect of whose services shares were received or
recevable under long term incentive schemes was 2 2
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5 Director and employee costs (continued)

Directors’ nghts to subscribe for shares in or debentures of the Company and its subsidianes are
indicated below

Number of options

Forfeited
Atstart  dunng the Atend Exercise
of year year of year price
000 000 000 £ip
Ordinary shares 2 - 2 -
Preference shares 11,198 1,600 9,698 -

Certain directors benefited from qualifying third party indemnity provisions

The average numher of persons employed by the Group (including directors) duning the period, analysed
by division was as follows

Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
2010 2009
Number Number
EMI! Music 2,831 3,221
EMI Music Publishing 549 571
3,380 3,792
The Company had no employees during the year (2009 nil)
Key management personnel
The aggregate cost of the key management of the Group 1s as follows
Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
2010 2009
£m £m
Salaries, short-term employee benefits and third party interim costs 19 10
Post-employment benefits - 1
Share-based payments — equity settled (non-cash) 10 3
Share-based payments — cash settled - -
Termination benefits 2 -
3 14

Key management personnel totalled 24 (2009 22) at the year end and included the board of directars
and the operating boards of both EMI Music and EMI Music Publishing

The share based payments charge of £10 million includes £8 million relating to the highest paid director
The basis for calculating this charge 1s explained above

Employee benefits

For details regarding the Group’s long term incentive plans, and share-based payment transactions, see
note 28
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6 Net finance charges
Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
2010 2009
£m £m
Finance costs
Fair value loss on derivatives - {155)
Total net losses - {155)
Interest payable on bank overdrafts and loans {196) {223)
Interest on shareholder loan {52) (56)
Interest payable on finance leases h (1)
Total interest expense on financial labilities measured at amortised cost {249) (280)
Interest payable on defined benefit pension scheme liabilities (55) (57)
Foreign exchange lass on foreign currency borrowings - (297)
Total finance costs (304) {789)
Finance income
Fair value gain on denvatives 48 -
Total net gains 48 -
Interest recewable on bank balances 1 11
Other interest receivable -
Tetal interest iIncome on financial assets not at fair value through profit or
loss 1 14
Expected return from defined benefit pension scheme assets 39 53
Foreign exchange gamn on foreign currency borrowings 73 -
Total finance iIncome 161 67
Total net finance charges (143) (722)

7 Restructuring costs

The restructunng costs included within loss before taxation are as follows

Year endod Year ended

31 March 31 March

2010 2009

£m £m

Restructuring costs 71 136

Restructunng costs

Dunng the year ended 31 March 2010, the restructuning inihatives included redundancy costs, addressing
the debt and equity financing structure and continuing rationalisation of the property pertfolio and secunty
and capital reorgamisation 1ssues Management anticipate that restructuring initiatives will continue for the
foreseeable future
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7 Restructuring costs {continued)

Dunng the year ended 31 March 2009, the Group engaged experts and consultants in order to
understand more fully the commercial and geographical markets in which the Group operates, assess
and redefine the strategic objectives of the Group, and start to implement a wide-ranging restructuning
exercise to fundamentally reshape the business

Costs recogrised In restructunng included repositioring EM! Music's labels to ensure Arbsts and
Repertoire are a primary focus, developing new partnerships with artists that are based on transparency
and trust moving to a global functional structure for each of the Group's key activities including
marketing, manufacturing, sales and distnbution, rationalising the property portfolio, outsourcing non-core
business areas, capital reorganisation and eliminating significant duplications to simplify process

8 Taxation

Year ended Year ended

31 March 31 March

2010 2009

£m £m

Current tax for the period 4 8
Total current tax charge 4 8
Deferred tax credit (Note 21) {116) {194)
Total taxation credit {112) {186)

The tax on the Group's profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the
Company's statutory tax rate applicable to profits of the consolidated companies as follows

Year ended Year ended

31 March 31 March

2010 2009

£m £m
Loss before tax (624) (1,753}

Tax calculated at the UK tax rate applicable to profits in the respective countries

at 28% {174) (491)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 71 187
Ongination of tax losses 4 132
Other credits (3) 4)
Tax rate differences 11 (10)
Prior year adjustments (21) -
Total tax credit in the Income statement {112) {186)

On 21 June 2010 ¢ was announced that Corporation tax rates in the United Kingdom will reduce to 27%
from 1 Apni 2011 and a further 1% per year down to 24% from 1 April 2014 Thus legislation has not yet
been substantially enacted and hence has no impact on the deferred tax calculations within these
financial statements
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9 Music catalogues and other intangible assets
Artists’ &
Music  Songwritors’
catalogues contracts Softwaro Othoer Total
£m £m £m £m Em
Cost
At 31 March 2008 3,248 299 29 46 3622
Additions 8 - - - 8
Currency retranstation 872 51 - 2 925
At 31 March 2009 4,128 350 29 48 4,555
Additions 3 1 - - 4
Currency retransiation (182) {11) - - (193}
At 31 March 2010 3,949 340 29 48 4,366

Amortisation and impairment

At 31 March 2008 56 7 4 2 69
Impairment charge (see note 11} 625 36 - - 661
Amortisation charge for the year 106 12 6 4 128
Currency retranslation 34 3 - - 37
At 31 March 2009 821 58 10 6 895
Impairment charge (see note 11) 294 ] - - 303
Amortisation for the year 97 12 6 4 119
Currency retranslation (32} {7} 1 1 {37)
At 31 March 2010 1,180 T2 17 11 1,280
Net book value

At 31 March 2010 2,769 268 12 37 3,086
At 31 March 2009 3,307 292 19 42 3,660
At 31 March 2008 3,192 292 25 44 3,553
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10 Goodwill
Year ended
231 March
2010
£m
Cost
Cost at 1 Apnit 2008 1,511
Currency retranslation 421
At 31 March 2009 1,932
Acquisitions 2
Currency retranslation (88)
At 31 March 2010 1,846
Impairment
At 1 Apnl 2008 -
Imparment charge 377
At 31 March 2009 377
Impairment charge (see note 11} 299
Currency retranslation (16)
At 31 March 2010 660
Net book value
At 31 March 2010 1,186
At 31 March 2009 1,655
At 31 March 2008 1,511

Goodwill acquired through the business combination has been allocated for impairment testing purposes
to two cash-generating units (*CGUs"), being EMI Music and EMI Music Publishing representing the
lowest level within the Group at which goodwill 1s moratored for internal management purposes The
allocation of the goodwill acquired on the purchase of the EMI Group Is detailed below

31 March 31 March

2010 2009

£m £m

EMI Music 530 757
EMI Music Publishing 656 798
Goodwill 1,186 1,555

Goodwill impairrment 1s calculated on a local currency basis and 1s translated to Pound Sterling by
applying closing statutory exchange rates as at the end of the financial year
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11 Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets

The impairment charges recognised in the financial statements within administrative expenses In the
income statement are as follows

Year ended 31 March 2010 Year ended 31 March 2009
Intanglble Intangible
asseots Goodwill Total assets Gaodwill Total
£m £Em £m £m £m £m
EMI Music 165 195 360 - 202 202
EMI Music Publishing 138 104 242 661 175 836
Total 303 299 602 661 377 1,038

The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment or more frequently If there are indications that goodwill
might be impaired, and tests the intangible assets for impairment if there are indications that the assets
might be impaired

As a result at 31 March 2010, the Directors performed impairment tests on the goodwill in the EMI Music
and EMI Music Publishing CGUs and the music catalogues of the two divisions and concluded that the
goodwill and intangible assets were impaired as detailed in the above table

The principal assumptions used In those tests were the long-term growth rates and the discount rates
These are discussed, by CGU, below

EMI Music
Goodwill:
31 March 2010

The recoverable amount of the EMI Music division Is determined based on a value-in-use calcufation,
using the discounted cash flow projections for the whole EMI Music division denved from the latest
financial budgets and long term plan for the period ending 2015, which 15 approved by the board A
terminal value approach has been used to determine the net present value of the cash flows of the CGU
into perpetuity, a growth rate of 0% (consistent with management's expectations and external sources of
information) has been used for the EMI Music division  All estimated cash flows for the CGU have been
discounted at a pre-tax discount rate of 16 8% (post-tax discount rate of 12%) An impairment of £195
milhon has been identified, and the goodwill has been wnitten down by this amount to its value-in-use

If the post-tax discount rate used had been increased by 1%, a further impairment of £86 millien would
have been recognised against the goodwill of EMI Music If the terminal growth rate used had been
decreased by 1%, a further mpairment of £568 million would have been recogmsed aganst the goodwill of
EMI Music

The impairment charge arose as a result of the downturn in the outlook for the music market which has
resulted in reduced growth assumptions in relation to new music {as distinct from catalogue) in both the
short and longer term, leading to a fall in the value of goodwill
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1 Impairment of goodwiil and intangible assets {continued)
31 March 2009

The recoverable amount of the EMI Music diviston s determined based on a value-in-use calculation,
using the discounted cash flow projections for the whole EMI Music division denved from the latest
financial budgets and long term plan for the penod ending 2014, approved by the board A terminal value
approach has been used to determine the net present value of the cash flows of the CGU into perpetuity,
a growth rate of 0% (consistent with management’s expectations and external sources of information) has
been used for the EMI Music division All estmated cash flows for the CGU have been discounted at a
pre-tax discount rate of 33% (post-tax discount rate of 14%) An imparment has been identified, and the
goodwill has been wntten down to its value-in-use

If the discount rate used I1s increased by 1%, a further impairment of £118m weutd be recognised against
the goodwill of EMI Music If the terminal growth rate used I1s decreased by 1%, a further impairment of
£76m would be recognised against the goodwill of EMI Music

The impairment charge arose as a result of the downturn in the outlook for the music market which 1s an
area highly exposed to the general downturn in the econcmy, leading to a significant fall in the value of
goodwill

Intangible assets:
31 March 2010

The recoverable amount of the EMI Music catalogue s determined based on a value-in-use calculation,
using discounted cash flow projections derived from data for the year to 31 March 2010 with the
application of growth rates and decay rates which are specific to the type of ncome derived and territory
in which the recording 1s exploited aver the expected life of the asset A forecasting period of more than
five years has been used as the catalogue has relatively stable income and the outcome 1s more accurate
than applying a terminal value to the fifth year of cash flows A terminal value has been applied to the
forecasts after 10 years The forecasts used are based on management's view of the long term
performance of the catalogue, based upon industry survey analysis for each type of revenue for each
terntory Specific growth rates have been used for 2016 to the end of the forecast ranging from annual
growth rates of 1% to a decline rate of 12%

Country specific discount rates have been applied to each geographical cash flow, resulting in an overall
pre-tax discount rate of 13 2% (post-tax discount rate of 9%) An impawrment of £165 million has been
identified, and the intangible assets have has been wntten down by this amount to ther value-in-use

The impairment charge arose as a resuit of the downturn in the outlook for the music market which 1s an
area highly exposed to the general downturn In the economy, leading to a significant fall in the value of
goodwill

If post-tax discount rates used had been increased by 1% across each temntory, a further imparment of
£89 milon would have been recognised against the value of intangible assets

31 March 2009

The recoverable amount of the EMI Music catalogue 1s determined based on a value-in-use calculation,
using discounted cash flow projections denved from data for the year to 31 March 2009 with the
application of growth rates and decay rates which are specific to the type of income denved and terntory
in which the recording arises for the next 10 years A forecasting penod of more than five years has been
used as the catalogue has relatively stable income (although not as stable as the EM1 Music Publishing
catalogue) and the outcome 1s more accurate than applying a terminal value to the fifth year of cash
flows A terminal value has been applied to the forecasts after 10 years The forecasts used are based
on management's view as to the long term performance of the catalogue, based upon industry survey
analysis for each sub-type of revenue for each terntory Specific growth rates have been used for 2015
to 2019 which differ from the long term growth rates of the temtones, ranging from a growth rate of 7 6%
to a decline rate of 12 7%

Registered number 6309661 / 31 March 2010 39




Maltby Captial Limuted
Directors’ report and consolidated financial statements
31 March 2010

Notes to the Group financial statements {(continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2010

1" Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets (continued)

Country specific discount rates have been applied to each geographical cash flow, at a pre-tax discount
rate of 12 9% (post-tax discount rate of 9 2%) No impairment was identified

If discount rates used are increased by 1% across each terntory, an impairment of £70 milhien would be
recognised against the value of intangible assets

EMI Music Publishing
Goodwiil:
31 March 2010

The recoverable amount of the EMI Music Publishing divisicn 1s determined based on a value-in-use
calculation, using the discounted cash flow projections for the whole EMI Music Publishing division
derived from the latest financial budgets and long term plan for the penod ending 31 March 2015, which
was approved by the board A terminal value approach has been used to determine the cash flows of the
CGU into perpetuity, a growth rate of ranging from 2 5% to 3 5% (consistent with past experience and
external sources of information) has been used for the EM! Music Publishing divisien  All estmated cash
flows for the CGU have been discounted at a pre-tax discount rate of 11 3% (post-tax discount rate of
10%) An impairment of £104 milion has been tdentified, and the goodwill has been written down by this
amount to its value In use

If the post-tax discount rate used had been increased by 1%, a further impairment of £242 million would
have been recognised against the goadwill of EMI Music Publishing  If the terminal growth rate used had
been decreased by 1%, a further impairment of £197 miliion would have been recognised against the
goodwill of EMI Music Publishing

The imparrment charge arose as a result of the downturn tn the outlook for the mustc market which has
resulted in reduced growth assumptions across all areas (including the catalogue) in both the short to
longer term leading to a fall in the value of goodwill

31 March 2009

The recoverable amount of the EMI Music Publishing division 1s determmned based on a value-in-use
calculation, using the discounted cash flow projections for the whole EMI Music Publishing division
derived from the latest financial budgets and long term plan for the penod ending 31 March 2014,
approved by the board A terminal value approach has been used to determine the cash flows of the
CGU nto perpetuity, a growth rate of 1 6% (consistent with past expenence and external sources of
information) has been used for the EMI Music Publishing division  All estimated cash flows for the CGU
have been discounted at a pre-tax discount rate of 10 7% (post-tax discount rate of 9%) An imparment
has been identified, and the goodwill has been written down to its value in use

If the discount rate used is increased by 1%, a further iImpairment of £246m would be recognised against
the goodwill of EMI Music Publishing If the terminal growth rate used I1s decreased by 1%, a further
impairment of £194m would be recognised against the goodwill of EMI Music Publishing

The impairment charge arose as a result of the downturn in the outlook for the music market which has
resulted in reduced growth assumptions across all areas (including the catalogue} in both the short to
longer term leading to a fall in the value of goodwill
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11 Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets (continued)
Intangible assets:
31 Mareh 2010

The recoverable amount of the EMI Music Publishing catalogues 1s determined based on a value-in-use
calculatton, using discounted cash flow projections denved from data for the year to 31 March 2010 with
the application of growth rates and decay rates which are specific to the type of income denved and
terntory in which the copynight 1s explcited over the expected life of the asset A forecasting period of
more than five years before applying a terminal value 1s considered appropnate as future income 1s likely
to be affected by particular consideratiens in the long term (e g copynght reversion The forecasts used
are based on management's view of the long term performance of the catalogues, based upon industry
survey analysis for each sub-type of revenue for each territory Specific growth rates have been used for
2016 to the end of the forecast ranging from annual growth rates of 5% to a decline rate of 5%

Country specific discount rates have been applied to each geographical cash flow, resulting in an overall
pre-tax discount rate of 10 9% (post-tax discount rate of 9 5%} An imparrment of £138 million has been
identified, and the intangible assets have been written down by this amount to their value In use

The impairment charge has ansen as a result of the downturn in the outlook for the music market which
has resulied in reduced growth assumptions in both the short to longer term and increased decay
assumptions on the catalogue, leading to a significant fall in the value of intangible assets

If post-tax discount rates used had been Increased by 1% across each territory, a further impairment of
£201 milhon would have been recognised against the value of the EMI Music Publishing catalogues

31 March 2009

The recoverable amount of the EMI Music Publishing catalogues i1s determined based con a value-in-use
calculation, using discounted cash flow projections derived from data for the year to 31 March 2009 with
the applicatton of growth rates and decay rates which are specific to the type of income derived and
terntory in which the copynght arises for the next 20 years A forecasting period of more than five years
has been used as the catalogue has relatively stable income and the outcome 1s more accurate than
applying a terminal value to the fifth year of cash flows A terminal value has been applied fo the
forecasts after 20 years The forecasts used are based on management’'s view as to the long term
performance of the catalogues, based upon industry survey analysis for each sub-type of revenue for
each terntory Specific growth rates have been used for 2015 to 2029 which differ from the long term
growth rates of the terntones, ranging from a growth rate of 10 0% to a deciine rate of 5 0%

Country specific discount rates have been applied to each geographical cash flow, with a pre-tax discount
rate of 9 2% (post-tax discount rate of 8 9%) An imparment has been identified, and the intangible
assets have been written down to their value in use

The imparment charge has ansen as a result of the reduction in future growth assumptions in the last
twelve months pnimanly from changes in the economic environment affecting both short term growth and
longer term trends and increased decay assumptions on the catalogue, leading to a significant fall in the
value of intangible assets

If discount rates used are increased by 1% across each temtery, a further impairment of £272 million
would be recognised against the value of the EMI Music Publishing catalogues
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Plant,
equipment
Freehold  Leasehold and
property property vehicles Total
£m £m Em £m
Cost
At 1 Apnl 2008 53 64 46 163
Additions - 2 22 24
Disposals (4) (5) (11) (20)
Currency retranslation and reclassification {8} 4 33 29
At 31 March 2009 4 65 90 196
Additions 2 2 21 25
Disposals {5) {1} (13) {19)
Currency retranslation and reclassification - {2) (6) (8)
At 31 March 2010 a8 64 92 194
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 Apnl 2008 - 2 - 2
Depreciation charge for the period 1 4 17 22
Disposals (1) (4) (8) {(13)
Currency retranslation and reclassification - (1) - (1)
At 31 March 2009 - 1 9 10
Depreciation charge for the year 2 5 16 23
Disposals 1) M {13) (15)
Currency retranslation and reclassification - - (6) {6)
At 31 March 2010 1 5 6 12
Net book value
At 31 March 2010 37 59 86 182
At 31 March 2009 41 64 81 186
At 31 March 2008 53 62 46 161
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12 Property, plant and equipment {continued)

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment include the following

31 March 2010

31 March 2010

Plant,
Freehoald Leasehold equipment and
property property vehicles Total
£m £m £m £m
Finance lease assets - 21 - 21
Assets in the course of construction - - 5 5
31 March 2009
Plant,
Freehold Leasehold equlpmentand
property property vehicles Total
£m £m £m £m
Finance lease assets - 23 - 23
Assets in the course of construction - 1 10 11
13 Investments in associates
2010 2009
£m £m
At beginming of the year 28 25
Share of profit for the year 2 3
Dividends received 2 (2}
Currency translation - 3
At end of the year 29 29

Investments in associates as at 31 March 2010 include goodwill of £2 mithon (2009 £2 million) None of
the Group's associates are isted The prnincipal Investments in associates are detailled in note 35

The summansed financial information of the associates 1s as follows

2010 2009
£m £m
Share of associates’ balance sheet
Gross assets 37 34
Gross habilities (30) (20)
Share of net assets 7 14
Share of associates income

Revenue 14 12
Net profit 2 3
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14 Financial assets
2010 2009
£m £m
Available-for-sale investments 11 11
Interest rate caps at fair value through profit or loss - -
11 11

Avaiiable-for-sale investments

The available-for-sale investments above represent unlisted equity investments which offer the Group the
opportunity of return through dividend income They are valued at cost as ther far value cannot be
rehably measured

Interest rate caps al fair value through prof or loss

The interest rate caps at fair value through the profit or loss represent financial denvatives which are used
to manage the Group’s exposure to fluctuations in interest rate movements

15 Receilvables
2010 2010 2009 2009
Em £m £m £m
Current receivables
Trade receivables 277 249
Advances 190 217
Corporation tax recoverable 17 20
Other recevables
Amounis owed by associates - 1
Other debtors 49 45
Prepayments and accrued income 20 36
€69 82
Total current receivables 553 568
Non current receivables
Prepayments and accrued income 11 9
Total 564 577

Included within advances of £190 million at 31 March 2010 (2009 £217 million) are advances of £47
milion (2009 £32 milion) which are recoupable immediately (either from existing releases or from
albums expected to be released n the future) from royalty earnings and therefore may be recovered
more than 12 months after the balance sheet date
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16 Inventories
2010 2009
£m £m
Raw materials and consumables 2 3
Finished goods 23 24
Total 25 27
Dunng the year, the Group has written down inventories by £10 million (2009 £19 million)
17 Cash and cash equivalents
2010 2009
£m £m
Cash at bank and in hand 336 332
Short-term deposits 7 4
Cash and cash equivalents 343 336

Cash at bank eams interest at floating rates based on dally bank deposit rates Short-term deposits are
ordinarily made for penods varying between one day and one month, although can extend to penods of up
to three months, depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and eam interest at the
respective short-term deposit rates

The Group has balances of cash and cash equivalents totalling £168 million (2009 £209 million) held with
banks within the UK and £137 million (2009 £98 million) hetd with banks outside, but freely transferable to,
the UK The Group has balances of cash and cash equivalents totalling £38 milion (2008 £29 milkon) held
with banks outside the UK, but not freely transferable back to the UK This amount 1s made up of a large
number of Individually insignificant balances in a wide range of terntories

18 Trade and other payables

2010 2009
£m £m
Current payables
Trade payables 170 213
Royaltes and fees payable 644 675
Current taxation payable 33 653
Other taxes including VAT and social security costs 8 8
Other payables 77 54
Interest payable 8 3
Accruals and deferred income 44 130
Total current payables 984 1,136
Non current payables
Other payables 144 7
Total payables 1,128 1,143
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19 Financial liabilities
2010 2009
£m £m
Non-current
Bank term loan - 3,162
Shareholder loan 398 346
Finance leases (note 20) 15 18
Interest rate swaps 133 197
546 3,723
Current
Bank term loan 3,038 -
Bank overdrafts 6 24
Finance leases (note 20} 2 2
Interest rate swaps 70 62
3,116 88
Total financial habilities 3,662 3,811
Bank term loans

In August 2007, the Group signed three facility agreements The facilities comprised a £1,175 million senior
debt facility, a £1,410 millon secuntised bndge facility and a £155 million mezzanine facility, which have a
matunity ranging from 5 years to 7 years The loans are secured on certain assets and shares of certain
Group companies and are on a floating interest rate basis

At 31 March 2010 borrowings have been classified as current because at that date the Group did not
have an unconditional nght to defer settlement of the hability for at least 12 months for the reasons set out
below

Under the terms of the Group’s bhorrowing agreements an equity cure of £87 5 million was required In
order to enable Maltby Investments Limited to meet covenant tests applied for the quarter ended 31
March 2010 Funds to enable the cure to be made are required under the faciity agreements to be or
have previously been provided out of new equity At 31 March 2010 the Group did not have sufficient
qualifying funds and no certainty that such funds would be provided by the shareholder to effect the cure
for the quarter then ended

As set out in note 1, Going concern, the equity cure In relation to the quarter ended 31 March 2010 was
effected on 10 June 2010 out of funds of £78 1m provided by the Company's shareholders together with
£9 4m already held by the Company Following this cure being effected, as at the date of approval of
these financial statements, the directors consider that the Group once again currently has unconditional
right to defer settlement of these borrowings for at least 12 months
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19 Financial hlabilities (continued}
Shareholder loan

The shareholder loan was provided in the year ended 31 March 2008 by Terra Firma Capital Partners 1l and
IHl (note 30) at a fixed interest rate of 8% (with the option to add interest to the principal), 1s repayable in
August 2017 and was used to finance the acquisition of EMI In June 2008 the interest rate on this loan was
changed to 0% although the principal amount due in 2017 remains unchanged This change of terms
tnggered the derecognition rules in /AS 39 Financial Instruments Recognition and Measurement As a
result the carmmying value of the loan was derecognised in June 2008 and a new loan was recognised at its
far value in June 2008 The resulting gain of £809 million together wath the related deferred tax impact of
£226 mithon was recognised directly within shareholders’ equity as this was a transaction with shareholders’
acting In their capacity as shareholders The loan has subsequently been measured at its amortised cost
and will be increased to its pnncipal value by August 2017 wvia interest charged through the finance costs
ine In the Income statement The amort'sed cost of the loan was £398 millon at 31 March 2010 (2009
£346 mifhon) The unwinding of £52 million (2009 £34 million) of the principal value has been recognised In
the finance cost ine In the Income statement, whilst interest payable via payment in kind notes of £21
miliion was charged dunng the year ended 31 March 2009 pnor to the change in terms

Interest rate swaps

The notional principal amounts of the outstanding interest rate swap contracts at 31 March 2010 were
£1,783 milien and 2009 were £1,869 millon At 31 March 2010 and 2009, the fixed interest rates vaned
from 4 5268% to 5 4312% and the main floating rates were 3 month USD LIBOR, 3 month GBP LIBOR and
3 month EURIBOR The fair value of the interest rate swaps was equal to the book value being £203 million
as at 31 March 2010 (2009 £259 milion) Details are shown in note 23

Interest rate caps

The nctional principal amounts of the outstanding interest rate cap confracts at 31 March 2010 were £795
million and 2009 were £825 millon At 31 March 2010 and 2009, the capped interest rates varied from
4 38% to 555% The far value of the interest rate caps was equal to the book value being £nil as at 31
March 2010 (2009 £nmil) Details are shown in note 23

Other financial habilities

Overdrafts are unsecured, repayable on demand, and are charged interest at vanable rates For details
regarding the Group's obligations under finance leases, see note 20

Registered number 63098661 / 31 March 2010 47




Maltby Captial Limuted
Drrectors’ report and consolidated financial statements
31 March 2010

Notes to the Group financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2010

20 Obligations under finance leases

Minimum lease  Minimum lease

payments payments
2010 2009
£m £m

Amounts payable under finance leases
Within one year 2 2
Between one and five years 7 8
After more than five years 8 10
Present value of lease obligations 17 20
Less current portion {shown under current labilities) (2) {2)
Non-current portion 15 18

included in finance leases at 31 March 2010 1s a sale and leaseback scheme relating to a property in Rue
Mont Cenmis, Pans The lease runs for a term of 15 years, although the Group has the option to
repurchase the properiy at any time between years five and twelve |f the Group cpts not to take up this
option, then ownership of the property will revert to the lessor at the end of the lease

The present value of the minimum lease payments 1s not significantly different to the above analysis

21 Deferred taxation

The major deferred tax assets and habilities recognised by the Group, and the movements thereon, are
as follows

Deferred tax assets

Property,
plant and Ponsion
equipment Tax losses assets Other Total
£m Em £m £m £m

At 1 Apnl 2008 2 221 10 12 245
Credit/(charge) to Income statement for the year 2 (66) - 3 {61)
Credit direct to equity - - 2 - 2
Currency retranslation - 49 - - 49
At 31 March 2009 4 204 12 15 235
Charge to income statement for the year 1) (39) - (6) (46)
Credit direct to equity - - 35 - 35
Currency retranslation - (8) (1) - {9
At 31 March 2010 3 157 45 9 215

In the Group consolidated balance sheet at 31 March 2010, the deferred tax asset of £157 mullion relating
to tax losses has been offset against the deferred tax iabihty (2009 £202 million) This results in an asset

on the balance sheet of £58 million (2009 £53 million} and a habiity of £1,080 mullon (2009 £1,252
milhion}
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21 Deferred taxation (continued)
Deferred tax liabilities

Property, Pension Intangible Financia)

plant and llabilities assets Instruments Total

aquipment
£m £m £m £m £m

At 1 Apnil 2008 {4) (32) {1,115) - {1,151)
(Charge)/credit to profit or foss for the year (4) - 249 10 255
Credit/(charge) direct to equity - 18 - {226) (208)
Currency retranslation (3 - (347) - (350)
At 31 March 2009 (11) (18) (1,213) {216) (1,454}
(Charge)/credit to profit or loss for the year 2 - 146 14 162
Credit/(charge) direct to equity - 14 - - 14
Currency retranslation - - 41 - 41
At 31 March 2010 (9) - (1,026) {202) {1,237)

At the balance sheet date the Group had tax losses of £1,827 milhon (2009 £1,076 milhon) and other
deductible temporary differences of £98 milion (2009 £60 million) No deferred tax has been recognised
on these amounts due to the unpredictability of future profit streams and there are no further taxable
temporary differences relating to the same taxation authonity and the same taxable entity ansing against
which these can be utilised

Temporary differences for which deferred tax habiiies have not been recognised ansing in connection
with interests in subsidianes, associates and jointly controlled operations are not significant

22 Other provisions for habilities and charges

Restructuring Trading Total

£m £m £m

Current
At 1 April 2008 50 51 101
Provisions utilised (30) (11} (41)
Charged in the year A - 31
Currency retranslation 14 10 24
At 31 March 2009 65 50 115
Prowisions utiised (28) (14 (42)
Charged in the year 15 4 19
Provision released in the year {6) (7) (13)
Currency retranslation (3) - (3)
At 31 March 2010 43 33 76

Trading provisions include royalty audit claims and legal prowisions charged through profit from
cperations which are expected to be incurred within the next year The restructunng provision relates
primarily to emptoyee termination costs all of which are expected to be incurred within the next year

Ptulips Corporation commenced legal proceedings against EMI Music, Inc and Capital-EMI Music, Inc in
Apnl 2007 During the year the Group reached a full and final setttement for the legal proceedings and
agreed to pay a sum refiecting the amount provided in the prior year The Group did not accept, and
continues to deny any hiability in relation to the settlement claim
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23 Financial instruments
Investments i debt and equity securities

The fair value of financial assets at far value through profit or loss and avallable-for-sale financial assets
are deterrmined by reference to market pnce where available at the balance sheet date

Trade and other recervables

The farr value of trade and other receivables I1s estimated as the present value of future cash flows,
discounted at the market rate of interest at the balance sheet date If the effect 1s material

Trade and other payables

The fair value of trade and other payables 1s estmated as the present value of future cash flows,
discounted at the market rate of interest at the balance sheet date if the effect 1s matenal

Cash and cash equivalents

The fair value of cash and cash equivalents 1s estimated as its carrying amount where the cash I1s
repayable on demand Where it 1s not repayable on demand, the far value I1s estmated at the present
value of future cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the balance sheet date, if matenal

Interest-bearing borrowings

Fair value, which after imitial recognition 1s determined for disclosure purposes only, I1s calculated based
on the present value of future principal and interest cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest
at the balance sheet date For finance leases, the market rate of interest 1s determined by reference to
similar lease agreements

Dernvative financial instruments

The fair value of interest rate swaps and caps ts based on Bloomberg calculations generated using
observable market inputs (based on the terms and matunty of each contract and using market interest
rates for a similar instrument at the measurement date)

The interest rates used in far value calculaticns, where applicable, are based on market rates and the
weighted averages were as follows

2010 2009
% %
Loans and borrowings 10 84 12 42
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23 Financial instruments (continued)
Fair values

Financial assets and habiities recognised at fair value through profit and loss, comprise of dervative
financial instruments The denvative financial instruments are measured at far value, using a market
based information system, that prowides a valuation model that uses quoted market price and yeld
information to calculate cash flows and the total net present value (aggregated of discounted cash flows)

Financial assets and habilities recognised at amortised cost, only require disclosure of the fair value when
they are at a fixed rate The financial habtty that falls into this category 1s measured at far value using
market based quoted prnice information

The farr value of the shareholder loan has been calculated using a discounted cash flow (DCF) model
The DCF model uses quoted market price information for the nsk free rate (UK gilts) in addition to the
credit nisk rate for the parent company in order to derive the discount rate applicable to the Group

There has been no change in valuation technique over the financial pencd

The fair values for each class of financial asset and financial habiihies, together with therr carrying
amounts shown in the balance sheet are as follows

Carrying Fair value Carrying Fair value

amount 2010 amount 2009
210 2009

£m £m £m £m
Bank overdrafis {note 19} {6) (8) (24) (24)
Shareholder loan (note 19) (398) (522} (346) {418)
Bank term loans (note 19) (3,038) (3,038} (3,162) {3.162)
QObhgations under finance leases (note 20) {17} {17} (20) (20)
Total borrowings (3.459) (3,583) (3.552) {3,624)
Trade and other payables (note 18) (1,087} (1,087) (1,082) {1,082)
Total finanwcial habilities measured at amortised cost (4,546) {4,670} (4,634) {4,706)
Interest rate swaps at far value through profit or loss (note 19) (203)_ (203) (259) (259)
Total financial habilities (4,749) (4,873) (4,893) {4,965)
Cash and cash equivalents {note 17) 343 343 336 336
Trade and other recevables (note 15) 326 326 285 295
Total loans and receivables 669 669 631 631
Available for sale investments (note 14) 11 11 11 11
Interest rate caps at fair value through profit or loss (note 14) - - - -
Total financial assets 680 680 642 642
Net financial habihities {4,069) (4,193) {4,251) (4,323)

Fair value herarchy

The table below analyses financial instruments camed at fair value, into a far value hierarchy based on
the valuation technique used to determine farr value The different levels have been defined as follows

o level 1 quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or labilities

» Level 2 inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
hability, either directly (1 e , as prices) or indirectly (1 e , derived from prices)

« |evel 3 inputs for the asset or hlability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable
inputs)
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2010 Level 1 Level 2 Leve! 3 Total
£m £m £m £m
Derivative financial instruments - {203) - {203)

At 31 March 2010 the group did not have any labilities classified at level 3 of the far value hierarchy

A 25 basis paint increase in the yield curve used In the fair value calculation of the financial denvatives
would decrease the fair value by an aggregated £25 million (2009 £31 miilion)

The Group has exposure to the following nsks from its use of financial instruments
e Creditnsk

o Liquidity nsk

+  Market nsk including interest rate and currency nsk

This note presents information about the Group's exposure to the above nsks, as well as outhring the
Group’s objectives, policies and processes for measunng and managing financial risk, and the Group's
management of capital

Credit risk

Credit or counterparty nsk 1s the risk of financial loss to the Group If & customer or counterparty to a
financial instrument faills to meet its contractual obligations, and anses principally from the Group's
receivables from customers and investments

Group Treasury policy and objectives in relation to credit risk i1s to minimise the likelihood that the Group
will experience financia! loss due to counter party failure and to ensure that in the event of a single loss,
the failure of any single counter party would not matenally impact the financial wellbeing of the Group

The Group imits 1ts exposure to credit nsk by only depositing surplus funds on a short-term basis and by
only investing in hquid secunties and only with counterparties that have been given a strong credit rating
by both Standard & Poor's and Moody's Surplus cash investments are only made with banks with whom
the Group has a relationship Occasionally deposits are made with banking counterparties that provide
financing arrangements, reducing the credit exposure of the Group

Trade receivables are assessed for nsk of default by customers and terms of trade are adjusted
accordingly Receivables are insured on nsk and cost grounds

Exposure to credit risk

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maxmum credit exposure Therefore, the
maximum exposure to credit risk at the balance sheet date was £680 milion (2009 £642 million) being

the total of the carrying amount of financial assets, excluding equity investments, shown in the table on
the previous page

The ageing of trade recevables at the balance sheet date was as follows

Gross receivables Provision Gross receivables Provision

2010 2010 2009 2009

£m £m £m £m
Not past due 235 m 203 (1}
Past due 0 - 30 days 20 - 13 (1)
Past due 31 - 120 days 8 (1) 10 (1)
Moare than 120 days 50 {34) 57 {31)
Total 313 {36) 283 {34)
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23 Financial instruments (continued)

The movement in the provision for bad debts in respect of the trade receivables dunng the year was as
follows

2010 2009

£m £m
At beginning of the pernod 34 32
Charged to the income statement duning the perod 2 2
At end of penod 38 34

The maximum exposure to credit nsk of the trade receivables at 31 March 2010 by geographic region
was as follows

Not Not

2010 2009

£m £m
United Kingdom and Ireland 19 39
North America 95 86
Rest of Europe 79 76
Other 84 48
277 249

Liquidity nsk

Liguidity nsk 1s the nsk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due
The Group's approach to managing hquidity 1s to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have
sufficient hquidity to meet 1ts habilities when due, under normal and stressed conditions, without incurring
unacceptable losses or nsking damage to the Group

The Group 1s reliant on committed funding from a vanety of sources at Group and subsidiary company
level to meet the anticipated needs of the Group for the period covered by the Group's budget

The Group forecasts on a regular basis the expected cash flows that will occur on a weekly and monthly
basis This information 1s used in conjunction with the weekly reporting of actual cash balances at bank
in order to calculate the level of funding that will be required in the short and medium term  On a monthly
basis the level of headroom on existing facilities 1s reported and forecast forward until the end of the
financial period

The Group's commutted faciities and lines of credit are as follows

Total facility Undrawn facility Total facility Undrawn facility

2010 2010 2009 2009

Em £m £m £m
Senior facihity 1.175 269 1,175 258
Secuntisation bridge facility 1,410 - 1,410 -
Mezzanine facility 155 - 155 -
2,740 269 2,740 258
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23 Financial instruments (continued)

The Securitisation bndge faciity 1s drawn down in Eurcs, US Dollar and UK Stering The Mezzanine
facility has only been drawn down in UK Sterling The Senior facility includes a Revolving Credit Facility
that can be drawn at short notice and can be drawn in any currency At the balance sheet date, the
Revolving Credit Facility was drawn down in Euros, US Dollar, UK Stering and Japanese Yen The
Seniar facility also includes term loans which are drawn down in Euros and US Dollar

The contractual cash flows of financia! habilittes on an undiscounted basts, including interest payments is
shown in the table below

2010 Total 5 years

Carrylng  contractual 1 year 1to 2to and

amount cash flows or less 2 yoars § years over

£m £m £m £m £m £m
Bank overdrafts 6 5] 6 - - -
Shareholder loan 398 1,120 - - - 1,120
Bank term loans 3,038 3,722 108 102 476 3,036
Obligations under finance leases 17 17 2 2 5 8
Trade and other payables 1,087 1,087 943 144 - -
Interest rate swaps 203 216 78 58 80 -
Total financial habilities 4,749 6,168 1,137 306 561 4,164

2009 Total 5 years

Carrying contractual 1 year 1to 2to and

amount cash flows or less 2 years 5 yoars over

£m £m £m £m £m £m
Bank overdrafts 24 24 24 - - -
Shareholder loan 346 1,120 - - - 1,120
Bank term loans 3,162 4,110 121 122 367 3,500
Obligations under finance leases 20 20 2 2 6 10
Trade and other payables 1,082 1,082 1,075 7 - -
Interest rate swaps 258 278 67 62 48 103
Total financial habihities 4,893 6,634 1,289 193 419 4,733

The cash flows relating to the interest rate swaps and floating rate debt included in the above analysis are
based on floating rates applicable at the period end

In order to meet financial covenant tests In respect of periods ending 30 September 2008, 31 December
2008, 31 March 2009 and 30 June 2009 the Group applied funds onginally provided by the Company's
ultimate sharehclder of £16 milion, £12 75 milhon, £39 25 millon and £37 million respectively under
equity cure provisions within the facilities Following the 31 March 2010 covenant test, only £9 milhon of
funds remain or can be made available for equity cure purposes On 10 June 2010 £78 1milion was
recewved from the ulbtmate shareholder together with the £9 4 million already held by the Company which
will enable the Group to meet its covenant obligations

Market and foreign currency nsk

Market nsk 1s the risk that changes in market pnces, such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates,
will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments The objective of market
risk management is to manage and control market nsk exposures within an acceptable range
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Foreign currency nisk

The Group manages currency nsk with the objective of maximising the hedging effect that derives from
the diversity of the Group’s operations whilst avoiding creating currency exposure 1n addition to that
derived from the Group's underlying position

The Group 15 exposed to currency nisk in respect to sales and purchases A global netting system s used
to mimimise transaction costs associated with the sale and purchase of foreign currency to finance
purchases and sales Within the Group, loans are made between the UK central entity and global
subsidhanes To mimmise the exposure of purchasing currency at spot rates, small currency balances
are maintained to fund currency requirements The UK central entity occasionally enters into foreign
exchange contracts 1n order to exchange foreign currency Iinto functional currency although no forward
contracts were outstanding at 31 March 2010 The Group ensures that its net exposure 1s kept to an
operationally acceptable level by buying and selling foreign currencies at spot rates when necessary

Interest on borrowings I1s denominated In currencies that match the cash fiows generated by the
underlying operations of the Group, primanly GBP, Euros and USD This provides an ecocnomic hedge
without the need for entering into foreign exchange dernvatives regularly

The analysis of principal financial assets and liabilities by major currency is as follows

2010 Us Dellars Euros Sterling

$m €m £m
Shareholder loan - - (398)
Barnk loans (2,289) {1,178} (473)
Cash and cash equivalents 89 67 168
Interest rate swaps (186) {51) (35)
Interest rate caps - - -
Recelvables 242 138 134
Payables (724) {228) _{(428)
(2,868) {1,252) (1,032)

2008 US Dollars Euros Sterling

$m €m £m
Shareholder loan - - {348)
Bank loans (2,330) (1,165) {454)
Cash and cash equivalents 109 3 213
Interest rate swaps {260) (45) (36)
Interest rate caps - - -
Receivables 238 120 99
Payables (776) (217) {369)
{3,019} (1,276) {893)

A 20% strengthening of the Eurp, US Dollar and Japanese Yen against the pound sterling at 31 March
2010 would have decreased the foreign exchange reserve within equity by £273 million and increased the
loss by £368 milion A 20% percent weakening of the Eurg, US Dollar and Japanese Yen against the
pound sterling at 31 March 2010 would have increased equity by £182 milllon and decreased the loss by
£245 milon Those calculations assume that all other vanables remain constant
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Financial instruments (continued)
Interest rate risk

The Group policy 1s to manage the fixed / floating interest rate mix such that a significant increase In
interest rates will not on its own cause the Group significant volatility in its interest charge

The financial facility agreements that the Group has entered into contain clauses that require certain
levels of funding to be hedged so that interest rate risk 1Is minimised, 1 e floating interest (s swapped to
fixed rate interest or 1s capped at a maximum interest rate  Such clauses are contained In the foliowing
facilities

Secuntisation Bndge Facility - The interest liabiity relating to at least 82% of the principal amount
outstanding

Senior Facility & Mezzanine Facility - The interest liability relating to at least 50% of the principal amount
outstanding

An analysis of the spread of interest rate nsk, detailed before and after the effect of the denvatives, 1s as
follows

Currency As at 31 March As at 31 March

2010 2009

£m £m
Fixed Debt GBP 398 346
Floating Debt GBP 523 454
Floating Debt EUR 1,052 1,079
Floating Debt UsD 1,508 1,629
Floating Debt JPY 7 -
3,486 3,508

Impact of interest rate swaps

Fixed debt GBP 649 581
Fixed debt EUR 386 400
Fixed debt uUsD 1,146 1,218
Floating debt GBP 272 218
Floating debt EUR 666 679
Floating debt usD 360 411
Floating debt JPY 7 -
3,486 3,508

In addition, interest rate caps have been used to manage a proportion of the interest rate exposure of the
floating debt to movements in interest rates

An absolute increase 1n interest rates in all currencies of 1% would Increase finance charges by £13
million (2009 £10 million) A 20% weakening of Sterling against US Dollars, Euros and Japanese Yen
would result in a loss of £427 mullion (2009 £677 million based on a 20% weakening of Sterling agamnst
US Deollars and Euros) assuming interest rates remain constant A 20% strengthening of Sterling against
US Dollars and Euros would result in a gain of £641 milion (2008 £451 million based on a 20%
strengthening of Sterling against US Dollars and Euros) assurung interest rates remain constant The
Group considers that a 20% change In currency Is possible The Group also considers that based on
current market conditions enly a 1% change In interest rates remains reasonably possible
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24 Pensions

The Group operates a number of pension schemes throughout the world The nature of a scheme In a
particular country 1s usually in line with local custom and practice and 1s supportive of, and a key element
of, the Group's overall human resources strategy This operational philosophy results in the majonty of
the Group's schemes being of the defined contnbution type This has always been the case In, for
example, the US

In a imited number of countres of operation the Group’s local pension arrangements are entirely or partly
of the defined benefit type With the exception of the schemes in the UK, Ireland, Germany and Japan,
these defined benefit arrangements are not significant in size, as confirmed by the following summary of
the Group's total pension provisions The schemes in these four countries are matenal in size and so full
detail on each of them 1s given in the following narrative

Major Other
schemes schemes Total
Pension {hability) / asset £m £m £m
31 March 2010 (162) {12) (174)
31 March 2009 14 (9) S

The main scheme tn the UK, which covers employees of both EMI Group Limited and each of the Group's
UK subsidiary companies, 1s the EMI Group Pension Fund (the UK Fund) Benefits provided by the UK
Fund are based on final pensionable pay and include a penston which I1s guaranteed to increase each
year by the lower of 5% and the increase I1n the cost of ving The UK Fund was closed to new entrants
on 1 November 2005, on which date a defined contribution plan was started for the benefit of ehigible new
Joiners to the Group's UK businesses There were no significant changes to the UK fund gunng the year
The number of active members of the UK Fund was 269 (2009 374)

The Group operates two plans in Japan - Toshiba EMi Limited Retirement Plans, compnsing the Cash
Balance Plan for employees and the Retirement Allowance Plan for Directors, the financial details of
which are reported i aggregate later in this note There were no significant changes to these plans
during 2010

There were no significant changes in the German or Insh schemes dunng the year
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24 Pensions {continued)

The assets and habihties of these schemes were

2010 United
Kingdom Germany Ireland Japan Total
£m £m £m £m £m
Fair value of scheme assets
Equites 27 - 5 - 33
Bonds 867 - 8 - 875
Property 30 - - - 30
Other 11 4 1 23 39
8935 4 15 23 977
Present value of funded defined benefit (1,051) (46) {18) {18) (1,133)
obhigations
Net pension asset / (hability) {118) (42) (3) 5 {156)
Effect of asset ceiling - - - (6) {6)
Net pension asset/ {iability) (116) (42) {3) (1) {162)
2009 United
Kingdom Germany lreland Japan Total
£m £m £m £m £m

Farr value of scheme assets

Equities 22 - 6 - 28
Bonds 772 - 7 - 779
Property 37 - - - 37
Other 27 4 1 24 56
858 4 14 24 900
Present value of funded defined benefit
obligattons (804) (41) (17} {18) (880)
Net pension asset / {hability} 54 {(37) {3) 8 20
Effect of asset celling - - - {6) (6)
Net pension asset / (hability) 54 {(37) {3) - 14

For Japan, the Toshiba EMI Limited Retrement Plan has net assets of £nil (2009 £nil) and Retirement
Allowance plan for Directors has net habilities of £1m (2009 £nil)

The EMI Group Pension Fund was in deficit under an accounting (IAS 19) basis as at 31 March 2010
The deficit was £116 mullion, based on assets of £935 mulion and liabilites of £1,051 mullion

Ths measure of the financial position i1s not the same as that used to determine cash contributiens to the
Fund The valuation assumptions used for accounting are set by the Group Directors (having taken
actuanal advice} in accordance with 1AS 19 The lability under IAS19 1s calculated by using bhest
estimate assumptions with regard to market rates to project future lhabiity cash flows, and by placing a
present value on these using a discount rate denved from the yield on tugh quality (AA) corperate bonds
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24 Pensions (continued)

The assessment of the Fund's liabilihes that 15 used to determine the level of cash contributions to the
Fund 1s made under Scheme Funding legislation Under Scheme Funding, the assumptions used to
value the Fund's habilities are required to be prudent (rather than best estimate), and the discount rate
used 15 also required to be prudent (rather than being the yield on high qualty corporate bonds) As a
result, the value placed on the liabilities of a pension scheme on a Scheme Funding basis 1s often higher
than on an accounting basis “Prudence” 1s not defined by Scheme Funding legislation, but Pensions
Regulator guidance 1s that the degree of prudence should reflect the strength of the covenant of the
sponsonng employer, the weaker the perceived covenant, the greater the degree of required prudence

EMI Group Limited has been in discussions with the Trustee of the EM! Group Pension Fund regarding
the cash contributions under the scheme funding regime Agreement has not been able to be reached
regarding a long-term funding pohcy for the Fund and absent such agreement the Pensions Regulator
has referred the matter to the Determinations Panel for resoluton The Group's current lending
arrangements require the deficit existing at the date of the acquisition of EMi Group Limited to be met by
additional funds from the ultimate shareholder  Under proposals put forward to the Determinations
Panel, the scheme funding deficit could fall somewhere in a range between £115 milhon and £217 millien
based on a valuation at 31 March 2008 Absent any prior agreement with the Trustees, the size of this
deficit and the number of years over which the deficit 1s removed will be rescived by the Determinations
Panel

There are no significant unfunded schemes

The pension plans have not invested in any of the Group's own financial instruments or in properties or
other assets used by the Group
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The amcunts recognised in the consolidated income statement and in the consoldated statement of
recognised income and expense for the penod are analysed as follows

2010 United

Kingdom Germany freland Japan Total

£m £m £m £m Em

Recognised in the consolidated Income statement
Current service cost 4 - - 1 5
Curtallment gain (recognised within restructuring costs} (3} - - - (3)
Recognised in arriving at profit from operations 1 - - 1 2
Expected return on scheme assets {38} - (1) - (39)
Interest cost on scheme liabilites 51 2 1 - 54
Recognised In arriving at total net finance charges 13 2 - - 15
Taken to consolidated statement of comprehensive
Income
Actual return on scheme assets 130 - 2 - 132
Expected return on scheme assets _(38) - (1) - (39)
Actuarial gain on scheme assets 92 - 1 - 93
Actuarial loss on defined benefit obligations (252) 4! (1) - (260}
Effect of the asset ceiling - - - - -
Actuanial (gamns) and losses recognised in 160 7 - - 167
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
2009 United

Kingdom  Germany Ireland Japan Total

£m £m £m £m £m

Recognmised in the consolidated income statement
Current service cost 5 - . 1 6
Curtaiiment gain {recogmsed within restructuring costs) {3} - - - {3)
Recognised in arnving at profit from operations 2 - - 1 3
Expected return on scheme assets (52) - {1} - {53)
Interest cost on scheme habilities 54 2 1 - 57
Recognised in arriving at total net finance charges 2 2 - - 4
Taken to conschidated statement of
comprehensive income
Actual return on scheme assets 47 - 2 - 49
Expected return on scheme assets 52 - 1 - 53
Actuarial loss on scheme assets 99 - 3 - 102
Actuanial gain on defined benefit obligations (41) (1) - - (42)
Effect of the asset celling - - - 2 2
Actuanal (gains) and losses recogrused in
the statement of comprehensive Incorne 58 (1) 3 2 62
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2010 United
Kingdom  Germany treland Japan
% % % %
Main assumptions
Rate of general increase in salanes 53 30 40 21
Rate of increase to pensions in payment 36 20 20 -
Discount rate for scheme hahilities 55 50 53 21
Inflation 38 20 20 -
Expected rates of return on scheme assets
Equitres 83 n/a n/a n/a
Bonds 47 n‘a n/a n/a
Property 65 n/a n/a n/a
Other 48 n/a n/a n/a
Overall expected return on scheme assets 50 40 56 10
2009 United
Kingdom Garmany Ireland Japan
% % % %
Main assumptions
Rate of general increase in salanes 51 30 40 21
Rate of increase to pensions in payment 31 20 20 -
Discount rate for scheme habilites 66 61 60 21
Inflation 31 20 20 -
Expected rates of return on scheme assets
Equities 84 n/a n/a n/a
Bonds 49 n/a n/a n/a
Property 66 nfa n/fa n/a
Other 31 n/a nfa n/a
Overall expected return on scheme assets 51 40 59 10

The expected return on plan assets 1s set by reference to historical returns on each of the main asset
classes, current market indicators such as long term bond yields and expected long term strategic asset
allocation of each plan The overall expected weight of return i1s calculated by weighting the indvidual
rates in accordance with the anticipated balance in the plan’s investment portfolio
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The table below sets cut the sensitivity on the pension deficit as at 31 March 2010 for the two main
assumptions

2010 United
Kingdom Germany Ireland Japan
£m £m £m £m

Increasel/(decrease) in pension deficit

0 25% nise in discount rate {40) (1) (1 -
0 25% fall in discount rate 45 1 1 -
0 25% nse mnnftation 40 1 1 -
0 25% fall in inflation {35) (1) (1) -

The mortality assumptions used in the principal schemes are as follows

2010 United
Kingdom Germany Ireland Japan
Years Yoars Yoars Years

Life expectancies

Current pensioners at §5 — male 23 18 25 n/a

Current pensioners at 65 — female 24 22 28 n/a

Future pensioners at 65 — male 25 22 29 n/a

Future pensioners at 65 — female 26 26 32 n/a
2009 United

Kingdom Germany Ireland Japan

Years Years Years Years

Life expectancies

Current pensioners at 65 — male 21 18 25 n/a
Current pensioners at 65 — female 22 22 28 n/a
Future pensioners at 65 — male 23 22 29 n/a
Future pensioners at 65 — female 24 26 32 n'a

The postretirement mortality assumptions allow for expected increases in longewity The ‘current’
disclosures above relate to assumptions based on longevity following retirement at the balance sheet
date, with ‘future’ being that relating to an employee retinng in 2030 A blend of medium cohort and long
cohort assumptions were used in the case of the UK Fund with a mimimum annual improvement of
125% As the plans in Japan provide a cash sum at retrement, no post-retirement Iife expectancy
assumption I1s required
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Members contribute to the UK Fund at the rate of 4% except in the case of those members whose
contnbutions are paid by the employer following the launch of a flexible benefits programme in 2005
There were no employee contnbutions to either the German fund or the Japanese fund In the penod
Employer contributions are made to the UK fund at the rate of 20% of pensionable salary and to the
Japanese fund as advised by the insurance company which administers the fund Contributions to the
plans were £5 million (2009 £6 million) and are expected to be £4 milion th 2011

Changes In the present value of the defined benefit obligation are analysed as follows

United
Kingdom Germany Ireland Japan Total
£m £m £m £m £m
At 1 Apnl 2009 (804) (41) (17) {18) (880}
Service cost (4) - - {1) (5)
Interest cost {51) (2) (1) - (54}
Curtailment 3 - - - 3
Benefits paid 57 2 1 2 62
Actuanal losses (252) {7 (1) - (260}
Currency translation - 2 - {1) 1
At 31 March 2010 {1,051) {46) {18) {18) (1,133)
United
Kingdom Germany Ireland Japan Total
£m £m £m £m £m
At 1 Apnl 2008 (847) (36) {15) {13) (911)
Service cost (5} - - (1) (6)
Interest cost (54) (2) (N - (57)
Curtailment 3 - - - 3
Benefits paid 58 2 1 2 63
Actuarial gain 4 1 - - 42
Currency translation - (6) {2) (6) (14)
At 31 March 2009 (804) (41) {17} {18) {880)
Changes in the farr value of scheme assets are analysed as follows
United
Kingdom Garmany Ireland Japan Total
£m £m £m £m £m
At 1 Apnl 2008 858 4 14 24 900
Expected return on scheme assets 38 - 1 - 39
Employer contnbutions 4 - - 1 5
Benefits paid (57) {2) ()] (2) {62)
Actuanal gains 92 - 1 - 93
Currency translation - 2 - 2
At 31 March 2010 935 4 15 23 977
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24 Pensions (continued)
United
Kingdom Germany Ireland Japan Total
£m £m £m £m £m
At 1 Apnl 2008 958 4 15 17 994
Expected return on scheme assets 52 - 1 - 53
Employer contributions 5 - - 1 6
Benefits paid (58) (2) (n (2) (63}
Actuanal losses (99) - (3} - {102)
Currency translation - 2 2 8 12
At 31 March 2009 858 4 14 24 900
History of expenence gains and losses
2010 United
Kingdom Germany Ireland Japan Total
£Em £m £m £m £m
Fair value of scheme assets 935 4 15 23 977
Present value of defined benefit obligations (1,051) (46) (18} (18) {1,133)
Surplus / (deficit) in the scheme (118) (42) (3) 5 {156)
Effect of asset celling - - - (6} (6}
(116) (42) (3) (1) {162)
Cumulative actuanal gains and (losses) at
1 Apnl 2008 2 3 (Y (2) -
Actuarial losses on defined benefit
obligations in the year (252) (7 (1) - (260)
Actuarial gains on plan assets in the year 92 - 1 - 93
Effect of the asset ceiling - - - - -
Cumulative actuanal gains / {losses) (158) (4) (3) (2) {167)
at 31 March 2010
2009 United
Kingdom Germany Ireland Japan Total
£m £m £m £m £m
Fair value of scheme assets 858 4 14 24 900
Present value of defined benefit obligations (804) (41) (17} {18) (880)
Surplus / (deficit) in the scheme 54 (37) (3) 6 20
Effect of asset ceiling - - - {6) {6)
54 (37) (3) - 14
Cumulative actuarial gains and {(losses) at
1 Apnl 2008 60 2 - - 62
Actuanal gains on defined benefit obligations
in the year 141 1 - - 42
Actuanal losses on plan assets in the year (99} - {3) - {102)
Effect of the asset ceiling - - - {2) {2)
Cumulative actuanal gains / (losses)
at 31 March 2009 2 3 (3) {2) -
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24 Pensions (continued)
2008 United
Kingdom Germany Ireland Japan Total
£m £m £m £m £m
Far value of scheme assets 958 4 15 17 994
Present value of defined benefit obhigations (B47) (36) (15) (13 (911}
Surplus / (deficit) in the scheme 111 (32) - 4 83
Effect of asset celing - - - (4) (4)
111 {32} - - 79
Cumulative actuarial gains at
1 Apnil 2007 - - - -
Actuarial gains on defined benefit obligations
in the year 60 2 - - 62
Effect of the asset celling - - - - -
Cumulative actuanal gans / {losses)
at 31 March 2008 60 2 - - 62
25 Share capital
2010 2009
£m Em
Authorised and issued share capital
117,256 Ordinary shares of £1 each - -
704,157,319 Preference shares of £1 each 704 704
704 704
Number  Share capital Number Share capital
2010 2010 2009 2009
000’s £m 000's £m
At beginning of the period 704,275 704 704,275 704
Shares issued dunng the period - - - -
At end of period 704,275 704 704,275 704

All shares n 1ssue have been allocated, called up and fully paid at par The preference shares are non-
voting and non-redeemable The holders are entitled to a cumulative distnbution of 8% per annum,
however the Company has the unconditional nght to defer settlement of this return until the hquidation of
the Company and so the shares have been classified as equity, and any distribution on the preference
shares ranks befare distributions on the ordinary shares
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26 Reserves
Foreign exchange reserve

The foreign exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences ansing since incorporation from
the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations

Other reserves

The other reserve compnises the gain on the shareholder loan recognised directly 1n equity, net of the
related deferred tax impact, to the extent the gain has not yet unwound In the effective interest charged to
date (again net of the related deferred tax impact)

Capital management

The Group's objective when managing capital 1s to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern n order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintamn
an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital The Group 1s not subject to any externally
imposed capital requirements In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust
the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, increase net debt by 1ssuing new debt or drawing down
upon faciliies or reduce net debt by 1ssuing new shares or selling assets

The directors define capital for these purposes as total equity plus shareholder loans

27 Capital and lease commitments
There were no capital commitments at the year end (2009 £nil)

Commitments under operating leases were as follows

2010 2009
£m £m

Operating leases
In the first year 30 30
In the second to fifth years inclusive 100 125
After the fifth year 26 37
Total 156 192
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28 Share-based payments

The expense recognised for employee services recewved dunng the year is shown in the following table

2010 2009

£m Em

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions (non-cash) 10 3
Cash-settled share-based payment transactions - 3
Total 10 6

The share-based payment plans are described below There have been no cancellations or modifications
to any of the plans during 2010 or 2009

Long Term Incentive Plan — EMI Music and EMI Music Publishing divisions {Cash-settled)

The Group operates two Long Term Incentive Plans (“LTIP"} for the Recorded Music Division, and one for
the Music Publishing Division Under the terms of these plans, employees of the relevant division are
granted share appreciation units in the LTIP These units vest in three equal tranches, being 30 days, 1
year and 2 years from the earlier of (1) the sale, disposition or transfer of the Group or a Diwision of the
Group (including an IPQ), and (2) 31 August 2014

The relevant date 1s currently assumed to be 31 August 2014, due to the uncertainty over the timing of a
sale, disposttion or transfer The share appreciation units are settled in cash

The far value of the share appreciation units 1s measured at the grant date using a Monte Carlo
simulation option pricing model, taking inte account the terms and conditions upon which the awards
were granted The valuation methodology assumes that no dividends will be paid durtng the vesting
period The hability 1s re-measured to farr value at each balance sheet date using the same methodology,
with changes In farr value recognised in the iIncome statement

Durning the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group made awards of 04% of the growth in value of
Recorded Music (2009 2 36%) and 0 6% of EMI Music Publishing (2009 10 2%) under these LTIP plans
The total far value of LTIP awards at 31 March 2010 was £8 milhon (2009 £31 million)

The carrying amounts of the habilities relating to these awards at 31 March 2010 are as follows

EMI Music schemes £1 milion (2009 £1 million)
EMI Music Publishing schemes £2 million (2009 £2 million)

No awards had vested at 31 March 2010 (2009 £ntl)
Long Term Incentive Plan — Group (Equity-settled, non-cash)

The Group operates one LTIP plan for Group employees Under the terms of this plan, employees are
granted share appreciation units 1n the LTIP but the cash 1s then paid by the Group's parent companies
Terra Firma Investments (GP) 2 and (GP) 3 Limited These units vest from the earier of (1) the sale,
disposition or transfer of the Group or a Division of the Group (Including an IPO}, and (2} 31 August 2014
(31 August 2017 for one employee) If the sale, disposition or transfer occurs first, the awards are settled
in two tranches, being 30 days and 6 months from the date of the sale If 31 August 2014 1s the earlier
date, the awards are settled in their entirety on 30 September 2014 (30 September 2017 for one
employee)
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28 Share-based payments (continued)

The earlier date 1s currently assumed to be 31 August 2014 (31 August 2017 for one employee), due to
uncertainty over the timing of a sale, disposition or transfer The share appreciation uniis are settled in
cash, however the awards are treated as being equity-settled share-based payment transactions as the
awards were granted by Terra Firma investments Lsimited (GP) 2 and (GP) 3, the sole shareholders of
Maltby Capital Limited

The fair value of the share appreciation units 1s measured at the grant date using a Monte Carlo
simulation option prnicing model, taking inte acceunt the terms and conditions upon which the awards
were granted The valuation methodology assumes that no dividends will be paid during the vesting
penod

The Group made no new awards under this LTIP dunng the year During the year ended 31 March 2009,
the Group made awards of 1 3% of the share appreciation of the Group under this LTIP plan The grant
date fair value of these awards was £5 miilion which s being spread over the vesting penod

Equity Plans (Equity-settled, non-cash)

Under the terms of the Equity Plans, certain employees of the Group are awarded ordinary shares and
preference shares in Maltby Capital Limited which are share based payment awards These employees
are also awarded the part of the shareholder loan but these are not share based payment awards The
awards vest in annual tranches over five years from the grant date of the award

The fair value of the ordinary shares and preference shares 1s determined at the grant date by reference
to a discounted cash flow valuation of the Group, taking into account the terms and conditions upon
which the awards were granted The valuation methodology assumes that no dividends will be paid
dunng the vesting penod

The Group made no new awards under this plan during the year Dunng the year ended 31 March 2008,
the Group made awards of 2,034 ordinary shares and 12,193,566 preference shares under these equity
plans The grant date farr value of these awards was £12 mulion which 1s being spread over the vesting
period
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29 Contingent liabilities

The directors are not aware of any significant legal or arbitration proceedings, pending or threatened,
against any member of the Group which may resutt in a liability matenally in excess of the provision n the
financial statements

Save as described below, there are no legal or arbitration proceedings invelving members of the Group
which, so far as the directors are aware, may have a matenal effect on the financial position of the Group

As part of the sale in 1998 to HMV Group pic (HMV Group) of the companies and assets comprising
HMV, the Group entered Iinto an indemnity deed with HMV Group relating, among other things, to
guarantees given by the Group In respect of property leases of which approximately 45 {2009 46) remain
outstanding Under the deed, HMV Group agreed to indemnify the Group agamst any payments made
under those property leases and certain other guarantees and indemnities The aggregate annual rental
payments under guaranteed leases are approximately £21 milion (2008 £20 million), although they are
subject to adjustment both up and down under certain circumstances The guaranteed leases have terms
which expire in 1 to 16 years (2009 17 years) The indemnity deed remains in force In respect of lease
guarantees, and HMV Group has secured those obligations pursuant to a secunty deed, the Company's
rights under which rank second behind banks which provide senior credit facilities to HMV Group

Letters of credit and third party guarantees totaling £3 million (2008 £3 milhon) have been incurred by
Group companies

In addition to the matters described above, the Group 1s involved in other litigation ansing in the normal
course of business, none of which 1s expected to give nse to a matenal adverse effect on the Group

Tax

The Group operates in more than 40 countnes and I1s subject to wide range of complex tax laws and
regulations At any point in time it 1 normal for there to be a number of open years in any particular
terntory which may be subject to enquiry by local authorities Where the effect of the laws and regulations
15 unclear, estimates are used in determining the lhiability for the tax to be paid on past profits which are
recognised In the financial statements The Group considers the estimates, assumptions and judgements
to be reasonable but this can involve complex 1ssues which may take a number of years to resolve The
final determination of prior year tax habilities could be different from the estimates reflected in the financial
statements

Pensions

Please see note 24 for detalls
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30 Related party transactions
Associated undertakings
2010 2008
£m £m
Amounts owed by associates as at 31 March - 1
Amounts owed to associates as at 31 March {1) (1)
Amounts owed to Terra Firma Capital Partners |l and Ill as at 31 March {see note 19)
- Loan (398) (346)
Finance charges (payable) in the period to Terra Firma Capital Partners il and Il
- Interest payable via payment in kind notes - (21}
- Other interest payable ansing as a result of change In terms (see note 19) {(52) (34)

Compensation to key management personnel (including directors)
See note 5 for disclosures in respect of compensation to key management personnel

During the year Lord Birt received £l (2009 £250,000) in respect of consultancy services to the Group,
however he continued to receive remuneration as a director as disclosed in note 5 At the period end a
balance of £nil (2009 £ni) was payable by the Group

Defined benefit pension plans

As per note 24, the Group operates a number of pension schemes throughout the world The main
scheme, which covers employees in the UK, I1s the EMI Group Pension Fund (the UK Fund} The Group
also operates significant defined benefit schemes in Germany, Ireland and Japan With the exception of
these schemes, the other defined benefit schemes operated on behalf of the Group are not matenal
Further details are provided in note 24

Investment and shareholder loans

TFCP Holdings Limited 1s the ultimate controlling party and as such 15 a related party TFCP Holdings
Limited 1s the parent company of Terra Firma Investments (GP) 2 Limited and Terra Firma Investments
(GP) 3 Limited, and therefore the directors consider these companies to be related parties

During the period ended 31 March 2008, Terra Firma Investments (GP) 2 Limited, aching as general
partner of the six limited partnerships which constitute the Terra Firma Capital Partners I fund,
subscribed for £159 millien ordinary and preference shares in Maltby Capital Limited and subscribed for
£238 million in subordinate debt 1ssued by Maltby Holdings Limited

Terra Furma Investments (GP) 3 Limited, acting as general partner of Terra Firma Capttal Partners 1l
subscribed for £545 milhon ordinary and preference shares in Maltby Capital Limited and subscnbed for
£818 million in subordinated debt 1ssued by Maltby Holdings Limited durning the penod ending 31 March
2008

There have been no changes in relation to these investment and shareholder loans during the year For
the change in terms of the shareholder loans in the previous years, see note 19
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3 Accounting estimates and judgements

The Group prepares its consolidated financial statements in accordance with Adopted IFRSs, which
require management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions which affect the application of the
accounting policies, and the reported amounts of assets, habilities, Income and expenses Actual results
may differ from these estimates

The estimates and assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis Rewvisions to accounting estimates
are recognised 1n the period in which the estimates change and in any future penods Management has
discussed with the Audit Committee the development, selection and disclosure of the Group's cntical
accounting pohctes and estimates and the applications of these policies and estmates

The following areas are considered to involve a significant degree of judgement or estimatien
Impatrment reviews

Adopted IFRSs require management to test for impairment of goodwill, and other intangible assets with
indefinite lives, on an annual basis, and of intangible assets with finite ives f events or changes In
crrcumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable

An imparment test requires an assessment as to whether the carrying value of assets can be supported
by its recoverable amount Management calculates the recoverable amount based on the net present
value of the future cash flows denved from the relevant assets, using cash flow projections which have
heen discounted at an appropnate discount rate

In caleulating the net present value of the future cash flows, certain assumptions and estimates are
required to be made in respect of highly uncertain matters, including management's expectations of

* growth rates of various revenue streams,
+ long term growth rates, and
+ the selection of an appropriately nsk adjusted discount rate

Changing the assumptions selected by management, in particular the discount rate used in the present
value calculation, could sigmficantly affect the Group’s impairment evaluation and results

Further detalls on the impairment review performed on the goodwill and intangible assets are provided n
note 11 to the financia! statements, including sensitivity analysis in relation to key assumptions

Going concemn

The financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis which the directors believe to be
approprnate The Group meets its day to day working capital requirements and medium term funding
requirements through a number of banking facilities repayable from 2014 to 2015 These facilities include
certain financial covenant tests which are performed quarterly in respect of rolling one year periods
ending on 31 March, 30 June, 30 September and 31 December and certain other covenants and events
of default The breach of a covenant or occurrence of an event of default renders all of the facilities
repayable on demand at the option of the lender The directors have prepared base case trading and
cash flow forecasts for a period In excess of 1 year from the date of approval of these financial
statements which project that the total amount of the facilites 1s not exceeded

Trading and cash flow forecasts have been based on assumptions, among others including,

» growth rates of vanous revenue streams,
+ long terms growth rates, and
e projects costs

Amongst other factors, the nature of the Group's business I1s such that there can be considerable
unpredictable vanations in the timing of earnings and cash inflows (f there 1s a change in the forecast
release date for key projects Please refer to note 1 for further discussion on going concein
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31 Accounting estimates and judgements (continued)
Fair value measurement on business combination

The amount of goodwill initially recognised as a result of a business combination 1s dependent on the
allocation of the purchase price to the fair value of the 1dentifiable assets and liabiities acquired The
determination of the fair value of the acquired assets and liabilities 1s to a considerable extent based upon
management’s jJudgement, and estimates and assumptions made

Allocation of the purchase price affects the results of the Group as intangible assets are amortised over
therr estimated useful lives, whereas goodwill, 1s not amortised This could lead to differing amortisation
charges based on the zallocation to indefinite and finite lived intangible assets

On acquisition of a business, the identifiable intangible assets may include catalogues and contracts with
artists and sengwriters  The farr value of these assets i1s determined by discounting estimated future net
cash flows generated by the asset The use of different estimates and assumptions for the expectations
of future cash flows and the discount rate would change the valuation of these intangible assets

Taxation

Management 1s required to estmate the tax payable in each of the junsdictions in which the Group
operates This Involves estimating the actual current tax charge or credit together with assessing
temporary differences resulting from differing treatment of items for tax and accounting purposes These
differences result in deferred tax assets and habilities, which may be included on the consolidated
balance sheet of the Group The calculation of the Group's total tax charge necessanly involves a
significant degree of estimation in respect of certain tems whose tax treatment cannot be finally
determined until resolution has been reached with the relevant tax authority, or, as approprate, through a
formal legal process

The Group has, from time to time, contingent tax labilities arising from frading and corporate transactions
in the UK and overseas jurisdictions After appropnate consideration, management makes provision for

these habilities based on the probable level of economic loss that may be incurred and which 1s rehably
rmeasurable

The breadth of the Group's structure with operations in many geographic locations makes the use of
estimates and assumptions more challenging The resolution of issues 1s not always within the control of
the Group and can be reliant upon the efficiency of the legal processes in the relevant jurisdictions in
which the Group operates, and as a result, issues can, and often do take many years to resolve

The assumptions used in determining the deferred tax assets are disclosed in note 21
Artists’ and writers’ advances

The Group regularly commits to, and pays advances to artists and songwriters In respect of ther
anticipated future sales These advances are capitalised as assets when management believes that the
advances are fully recoverable from future royalties to be eamned by the artist or songwriter

The decision to capitalise an advance requires significant judgement as to the recoverability of these
advances Each advance 1s assessed upon iitial commitment and at each reporting date, based on
management’s forecast of anticipated revenues from the sale of existing and future product, taking into

account the current and past populanty of the arhist, the histonic sales of previous product and other
relevant information

Based on this information, management expenses the poriion of the advance which it believes 1s not
recoverable, in many cases royalty advances to artists without a history of commercial success are

expensed immediately All advances carmed on the balance sheet are at each reporting date assessed
for recoverability

Sales returns provisions

In accordance with market practice in the music industry, the Group sells certain physical products to
customers with the night to return certain unsold tems The Group recognises revenues from such sales
at fair value after making provision in respect of expected future returns of goods supplied
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31 Accounting estimates and judgements {continued)

In determining the level of returns prowvisiening, management 1s required to estimate the value of sales
which may be retumed, by analysing histonc return trends, assessing the current economic trends, and
estimating the future customer demand of the Group's products These assessments are performed for
each market in which the Group operates, and applies a percentage of each markets product sales to
estimate the returmns provision required

Provisions

Provisions have been made for royalty audit claims, legal, employee termination and other restructuring
costs These provisions are the best estmate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation
at the end of the reporting penod The actual costs and timing of future cash flows are dependent on
future events Any difference between expectations and the actual future hability will be accounted for 1n
the period when such determination 1s made

Retirement benefils

The Group operates a number of defined benefit pension schemes Under IAS 19 Employee Benefits,
management are required to estimate the present value of the future defined benefit obligation of each of
the defined benefit schemes

The estimation of this liability 1s dependent upcn the numerous assumptions, including

¢ future rate of increase in salarnes,

« nflation rate projections,

+ discount rate for scheme liabilities, and

+ expected rates of return on the scheme assets

The assumptions and estimates used in determining the defined benefit pension obligations are disclosed
in note 24 to the financial statements

32 Subsequent events

On 10 June 2010, the holders of the shareholder loan (see note 19) wawved their nghts to the accrued
interest on this loan of £63,799,557

These holders then assigned the shareholder loan receivable of £1,056,411,818 from Maltby Holdings
Limited to Maltby Capital Lumited in exchange for 7,744 new £1 Ordinary Shares 1ssued by Maltby Capital
Limited

Maltby Capital Limited released Maltby Holdings Limited from the shareholder loan in exchange for
100,000 £1 Ordinary shares 1ssued by Maltby Holdings Limited for a total consideration of
£1,056,411,818

On 10 June 2010 all of the existing 714,157,319 £1 preference shares issued by Maltby Captal Ltd were
reclassified to 714,157,319 deferred shares with a nominal value of £1 per deferred share The holders of
these deferred shares are not entitled to receive any dividend or distnbutton on a return of assets on
hguidation, dissolution or winding up of Maltby Capital Ltd either voluntary or involuntary or other return of
capital The deferred shares entitle the holder only to the repayment of the amounts paid up on such
shares (including any premium) after repayment of the caprtal on each ordinary share and payment of
£1,000,000 per ordinary share Also, the holders of the deferred shares are not entitled to receive notice
of, attend or vote at any general meeting
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a2 Subsequent events {(continued)

On 11th June 2010 Maltby Capital Ltd 1ssued 35 per cent unsecured convertible loans notes due 2015
having an aggregate nominal value of £78 1m The interest will be added to the principal and becomes
payables at matunty of the loans notes tnh 2015 or on the occurrence of certain other events Except on a
demerger or conversion, the loan notes will be redeemable by the Company on 2015

The Company has received commitment from its shareholders te provide it with further injections of funds
up to £26 9 millon in aggregate prowvided that (1) no “Default” under the Group's banking facifities 1s
continuing at the time of injection, and (n) at least 3 business days’ notice of the required injection 1s given
by the Company to its shareholders In turn, the Company will make funds of up to £26 9m in aggregate
avallable to Maltby Investments in relation to the 12 month penods ending on 30 June 2010, 30
September 2010 and 31 December 2010, provided that (i) no “Default” under the Group's banking
facilities 1s continuing at the time of injection, (1) the prowvision of such funds would result in the financial
covenants being complied with, and (1) at least 5 business days' notice of the cure amount required 1s
given by Maltby Investments to the Company

33 Ultimate parent company

The ultimate parent undertaking and controlling party 1s TFCP Holdings Limited, a company registered in
Guernsey The immediate parent company i1s Maltby Holdings Limited, a company registered in England
and Wales The parent undertaking of the largest group to consolidate these financial statement 1s Maltby
Capital Limited Copies of the consolidated financial staterments of Maltby Capital can be obtained from
the Company’s registered address, 27 Wrights Lane, London W8 5SE
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Note 2010 2009
£m £m
Fixed assets
Investments 35 - 89
- 89
Current assets
Cash at bank and in hand, and cash deposits 9 9
Net current agsets 9 9
Net assets 9 98
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 36 704 704
Profit and loss reserve 36 (695) {606)
Equity shareholders’ funds 9 98

These financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 28 July 2010 and were signed on

its behalf by

Roger Faxon
Director
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34 Company accounting policies

The following accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items which are
considered matenal in relation to the financial statements

Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with applicable accounting standards and
under the histornical cost accounting rules

As permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 the Company has elected not to present its own
profit and loss account for the perigd

The Company’s investments in subsidianes, joint ventures and associates

Investments in subsidiary undertakings and participabng interests in joint venture companies and
associates are stated at cost less provision for any impairment

Taxation

The charge for taxation 13 based on the result for the year and takes into account taxation deferred
because of timing differences between the treatment of certan items for taxation and accounting
purposes

Deferred tax I1s recogmised, without discounting, in respect of all timing differences between the treatment
of certain items for taxation and accounting purposes which have ansen but not reversed by the batance
sheet date, except as otherwise required by FRS 19

35 Investments in subsidiary undertakings
Cost of
shares
£m
At 1 Apnl 2009 89

Impairment charge (89}
At 31 March 2010 -

The carrying value of the Company's investment in subsidiary undertakings has been imparred by £89m
to £nil Thus impairment has arsen because the consolidated financial statements of Maltby Capital Ltd
Indicate that the Group has net habiliies
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35 Investments In subsidiary undertakings {continued)

As permitted by Section 410 of the Companies Act 2006, only the holding companies and the principal
subsidianes whose results or financial position, in the opinion of the Directers, pnncipally affect the
figures of the Group in 2010 and 2009 have been shown below A full list of subsidiaries will be attached
to the Company's Annual Return filed with the Registrar of Companies All the subsidiaries were
consolidated at 31 March 2010

Percentage of Country of

aquity share incorporation
capital held and operation
indirectly Main actlvity

EMI Group Limited 100 UK Holding Company
EM! Records Limited 100 UK Recorded Music
EMI Music Publishing Limited 100 UK Music Publhishing
EMI Music Japan Inc 100 Japan Recorded Music
EMI Blackwood Music Inc 100 USA Music Publishing
EMI Music International Services Limited 100 UK Recorded Music
EMi Catalogue Partnership Inc 100 USA Music Publishing
EMI April Music Inc 100 USA Recorded Music
Capitol Records LLC 100 USA Recorded Music
Jobete Music Company Inc 100 USA Music Publishing
EMI Virgin Music Inc 100 UsSA Music Publishing
EMI Group Finance Limited 100 UK Treasury
EMI Group Inc 100 USA Holding Company
EMI Music Publishing Finance (UK) Limited 100 UK Treasury
EMI Music France SAS 100 France Recorded Music
EMI Music Germany GmbH & Co KG 100 Germany Recorded Music

The principal associate undertakings were as follows

Percentage of Country of

equity share incorporation
capital held and operation
Indirectly Main activity
Labe! Mobile Inc 20 Japan Recorded Music
Assoclated Production Music LLC 50 USA Music Publishing
36 Reconciliation of movements in shareholders’ funds

The share capital of the Company 1s disclosed in note 25 of the Group's financial statements

Profit and

Share logss Shareholders’

capital reserve funds

£m £m Em

At 1 April 2008 704 (4) 700
Loss attnbutable tc the members of the holding company - (602) (602)

At 31 March 2009 704 (608) 98

Loss attnbutable to the members of the holding company - (89} {89)

At 31 March 2010 704 (695} 9
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